

GUIDANCE

# Guidance on intermediates

January 2023 Version 3.1



### LEGAL NOTICE

This document aims to assist users in complying with their obligations under the REACH Regulation. However, users are reminded that the text of the REACH Regulation is the only authentic legal reference and that the information in this document does not constitute legal advice. Usage of the information remains under the sole responsibility of the user. The European Chemicals Agency does not accept any liability with regard to the use that may be made of the information contained in this document.

| Version | Section | Changes   | Date             |
|---------|---------|---|------------------|
| 0       |         | First version   | June 2007        |
|         | 1.2.3   | Wording has been changed for more consistency<br>with section 1.2.2 and for clarification that the<br>registrant can only rely on the confirmation from<br>their customer that the substance is used under<br>strictly controlled conditions  | February<br>2008 |
|         | 1.2.3   | A sentence has been added at the end of the last paragraph to give advice to inform non-EU costumers on the RMM.  | February<br>2008 |
|         | 2       | Clarification that the registration is only needed if the substance is not exempted from registration.  | February<br>2008 |
|         | 2       | In the 4 <sup>th</sup> paragraph a sentence has been added to<br>clarify how registration dossier can be submitted in<br>case a substance is manufactured or imported also<br>for other purposes than only the use as<br>intermediate, or if the manufacture or use(s) are<br>not under strictly controlled conditions.<br>At the end of the 4 <sup>th</sup> paragraph a sentence has been<br>added to explain how the fees will be calculated. | February<br>2008 |
|         | 2       | In the 3 <sup>rd</sup> paragraph from bottom of page 12 some words have been added to clarify that the information requirements applies only to the transported intermediates.  | February<br>2008 |
|         | 2.1     | In 2 <sup>nd</sup> bullet point the reference to EU or non EU sites has been deleted.   | February<br>2008 |
|         | 2.2     | In the classification section, some text has been<br>added to clarify that only classification and no<br>labeling is necessary for intermediates.<br>In addition it has been specified where the risk<br>management measures and the strictly controlled  | February<br>2008 |

| Version | Section | Changes  | Date             |
|---------|---------|--|------------------|
|         |         | conditions should be reported.   |                  |
|         | 2.3     | In the classification section, some text has been<br>added to clarify that only classification and no<br>labeling is necessary for intermediates.  | February<br>2008 |
|         |         | In addition it has been specified where the risk<br>management measures and the strictly controlled<br>conditions should be reported.  |                  |
|         | 2.5     | Another bullet point has been added to the 3 <sup>rd</sup> paragraph to specify what the lead registrant is recommended to submit.   | February<br>2008 |
|         | 2.7     | Some words have been added to clarify when the registration fee will be specified.   | February<br>2008 |
| V.03    | 1.2     | Various clarifications, corrections and updates on tasks and obligations, including requirements with regard to classification and labeling.   | October<br>2010  |
| V.03    | 2.      | Some clarification has been added regarding<br>situations where the substance is registered for<br>use as intermediate and for other uses. This<br>clarification includes calculation of fees.   | October<br>2010  |
| V.03    | 2.1.    | A clarification has been added that the criteria of<br>Article 18(4) can also be used to justify that<br>strictly controlled conditions SCC) for <b>onsite</b><br>intermediates are in place.  | October<br>2010  |
| V.03    | 2.1     | It has been highlighted that the registrant of an intermediate can choose between two registration routes: Article 17/18 route if strictly controlled conditions (including rigorous containment) are in place. Article 10 route, if control of risk is achieved by other means than strictly controlled conditions. | October<br>2010  |
| V.03    | 2.1     | A paragraph has been included that converts the legal text of Article 18(4) into a systematic list of references between the different elements of rigorous containment and the unit operations they are applied to.   | October<br>2010  |
| V.03    | 2.1     | The role of PPE within the concept of strictly October controlled conditions has been clarified.   |                  |

| Version | Section | Changes  | Date            |
|---------|---------|--|-----------------|
| V.03    | 2.1     | Footnote 10 to 12: References to other<br>Community legislation has been updated.  | October<br>2010 |
| V.03    | 2.1     | It has been clarified that, although no full<br>documentation of SCC is required in the<br>registration dossier, the registrant should give a<br>basic indication on how their conclusions<br>concerning SCC has been reached. Reference is<br>made to the Appendix 3 in which the registrant<br>can provide details on risk management measures<br>is a structured way.   | October<br>2010 |
| V.03    | 2.1     | In the list of items for the internal documentation,<br>DNELs and PNECs have been removed, since no<br>CSA is required for isolated intermediates under<br>strictly controlled conditions.   | October<br>2010 |
| V.03    | 2.1     | Addition to list of items for documentation: design of process and rigorousness of containment   | October<br>2010 |
| V.03    | 2.1     | Addition to list of items for documentation: design of process and rigorousness of containment   | October<br>2010 |
| V.03    | 2.1.1   | Rigorous containment is now more clearly distinguished from minimization of releases by technical and procedural means.  | October<br>2010 |
| V.03    | 2.1.1   | It has been clarified that "rigorous containment"<br>according to Article 18 (4a) means the technical<br>hardware designed for preventing releases, taking<br>into account the physical-chemical properties of<br>the substance and the process conditions.<br>Containment can be achieved by a combination of<br>mechanical barriers and air dynamic barriers.  | October<br>2010 |
| V.03    | 2.1.1   | The control banding approach has been included<br>into this section as an example how to categorize<br>control-, respectively containment-strategies. For<br>further detailed examples reference is made to the<br>COSHH control guidance sheets. It has been<br>clarified that "rigorous containment" according to<br>Article 18 (4a) means the technical hardware<br>designed for preventing releases, taking into<br>account the physico-chemical properties of the<br>substance. | October<br>2010 |

| Version | Section Changes  |   | Date            |
|---------|--|---|-----------------|
| V.03    | 2.1.1  | New example box (2) for containment strategies<br>has been inserted, including references for sources<br>for further information.<br>Measures related to 18 (4b) have been removed<br>from the example box for the pharmaceutical<br>industry (3). Some example for measures have<br>been newly included (e.g. soft wall isolator)<br>New example box (6): Railway loading and<br>unloading in chemical industry<br>New example box (7): Storage tanks, loading and<br>unloading of volatile liquid substances. | October<br>2010 |
| V.03    | 2.1.1All mentioning of open processes in context of<br>rigorous containment has been removed from the<br>sectionOctob<br>2010At the end of section 2.1.1, a paragraph has been<br>added on the role of measured or modeled<br>release/exposure data and the role of the available<br>knowledge on the intermediates' intrinsic hazards<br>in designing the rigorous containment. All other<br>mentioning of hazard information, risk<br>considerations and exposure data spread across<br>the previous version of the document has been<br>removed.Octob<br>2010 |   | October<br>2010 |
| V.03    | 2.1.2  | It has been clarified that procedural and control<br>techniques are to be applied on top of rigorous<br>containment, in order to minimize residual<br>releases. A reference to the relevant BREF<br>document has been added.  | October<br>2010 |
| V.03    | Examples   | The example box on technical measures to control<br>releases to the environment has been shifted from<br>2.1.1 to 2.1.2. Also it has been clarified that<br>WWTP may or may not fulfill the SCC requirement,<br>depending on the properties of the intermediate.  |                 |
| V.03    | 2.1.4  | A reference to the BREF document on waste and waste water treatment in the chemicals industry has been included.  | October<br>2010 |
| V.03    | 2.1.6  | A summary of principles for strictly controlled October conditions under REACH has been included as a new section.  |                 |
| V.03    | 2.3  | A clarification has been added that the absence of<br>a confirmation of SCC for transported isolated 2010<br>intermediates triggers the duty to register via the  |                 |

| Version | Section       | Changes  | Date             |
|---------|---------------|--|------------------|
|         |               | Article 10 route.  |                  |
| V.03    | 2.3           | A reference to section 8.2 of REACH Annex II has<br>been included (consistency between risk<br>management measures in the safety data sheet<br>and the conditions based on which the registration<br>under Article 17 and 18 is justified. |                  |
| V.03    | Appendix<br>1 | Various additions and refinements in order to bring Od<br>the Appendix closer to the legal text. 20  |                  |
| V.03    | Appendix<br>3 | New: Format for documenting information on risk<br>management measures in the registration dossier<br>for onsite and transported intermediates   |                  |
| V.03    | Appendix<br>4 | New: Definition of intermediates as agreed between Commission ,Member States and ECHA on 4 May 2010  | October<br>2010  |
| V.04    | 1.2.2         | Restructuring of registration obligations and exemptions   | November<br>2010 |
| V.04    | 1.2.3         | Restructuring of registration obligations and exemptions   | November<br>2010 |
| V.04    | 2             | Deletion of repetitive information N<br>2  |                  |
| V.04    | 2.1           | Minor additions and refinements  | November<br>2010 |
| V.04    | 2.2           | Similar to section 2.3 the reference to Commission Regulation 453/2010 has been included.  | November<br>2010 |
| V. 2    | 1.2.3         | A phrase is added (second bullet point on Decondition)   |                  |
| V. 2    | 2.            | Refinement of phrase. Decer<br>2010  |                  |
| V. 2    | 2.1.1         | The paragraph referring to hazardous properties is deleted.  |                  |

| Version | Section       | Changes  | Date             |
|---------|---------------|--|------------------|
| V. 2    | 2.1.6         | The paragraph referring to hazardous properties is deleted.  | December<br>2010 |
| V.3     | Appendix<br>4 | Technical adaptations in response to the<br>conclusions of the General Court's judgment in<br>case case C-650/15 P concerning the definition of<br>intermediate. Update of Appendix 4 to include the<br>Definition of intermediates as agreed between<br>Commission, Member States and ECHA on 6 July<br>2022.<br>Adaptation of the text to a gender-inclusive<br>language.<br>Technical adaptations to IUCLID 6<br>General update of links. | October<br>2022  |
| V.3.1   | Appendix<br>4 | Example 5: elimination of substance name and Januar<br>reference to process specifications 2023  |                  |

### **Guidance on Intermediates**

Reference: ECHA-22-H-15-EN Cat. Number: XX-XX-XX-XXX-EN-N ISBN: XXX-XX-XXX-XX DOI: XXXXX Publ. date: January 2023 Language: EN

© European Chemicals Agency, 2023

If you have questions or comments in relation to this document please send them contacting ECHA at: <u>https://echa.europa.eu/contact</u>.

### **European Chemicals Agency**

Mailing address: P.O. Box 400, FI-00121 Helsinki, Finland Visiting address: Telakkakatu 6, FI-00150 Helsinki, Finland

## Preface

This document describes when and how the specific provisions for the registration of intermediates under REACH can be used. It is part of a series of guidance documents that are aimed to help all stakeholders with their preparation for fulfilling their obligations under the REACH regulation. These documents cover detailed guidance for a range of essential REACH processes as well as for some specific scientific and/or technical methods that industry or authorities need to make use of under REACH.

The guidance documents were drafted and discussed within the REACH Implementation Projects (RIPs) led by the European Commission services, involving all stakeholders: Member States, industry and non-governmental organisations. The European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) updates these guidance documents following the Consultation procedure on guidance. These guidance documents can be obtained via the ECHA website<sup>1</sup>.

This document relates to the REACH Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2006<sup>2</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>http://echa.europa.eu/guidance-documents/guidance-on-reach</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2006 concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH), establishing a European Chemicals Agency, amending Directive 1999/45/EC and repealing Council Regulation (EEC) No 793/93 and Commission Regulation (EC) No 1488/94 as well as Council Directive 76/769/EEC and Commission Directives 91/155/EEC, 93/67/EEC, 93/105/EC and 2000/21/EC (OJ L 396, 30.12.2006, corrected version in OJ L136, 29.5.2007, p.3). Most recent REACH version (i.e. aggregated text with successive amendments and corrigenda) is accessible at: <a href="https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:02006R1907-20200824">https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:02006R1907-20200824</a>

# **Table of Contents**

| 1 3          | Introduction   | 11              |
|--------------|--|-----------------|
| 1.1          | Definition of the different categories of intermediates  | 11              |
| 1.2          | Tasks and obligations  | 12              |
| 1.2.1        | Non isolated intermediates   | 12              |
| 1.2.2        | On-site isolated intermediates   | 12              |
| 1.2.3        | Transported isolated intermediates   | 14              |
| 2            | Registration of isolated intermediates   | 18              |
| 2.1          | Strictly controlled conditions   | 19              |
| 2.1.1        | Rigorous containment of the substance by technical means   | 23              |
| 2.1.2        | Procedural and control technologies to minimise emission and any resulting exposure  | 29              |
| 2.1.3        | Handling of the substance by trained personnel   | 30              |
| 2.1.4        | Cases of accident and where waste is generated   | 31              |
| 2.1.5        | Management Systems   | 31              |
| 2.1.6        | Summary of principles  | 31              |
| 2.2          | Registration requirements for on-site isolated intermediates   | 32              |
| 2.3          | Registration requirements for transported isolated intermediates   | 33              |
| 2.4          | Preparation of a registration dossier for isolated intermediates   | 35              |
| 2.5          | Joint submission of data on isolated intermediates by multiple registrants   | 35              |
| 2.6          | Time lines   | 36              |
| 2.7          | Registration fee   | 36              |
|              | endix 1: Illustrative list of issues that may be taken into consideration for chec<br>the isolated intermediates are manufactured and used under strictly controlled<br>conditions | king that<br>37 |
| Арр          | endix 2: Example of format for documenting in-house information on strictly co<br>conditions of isolated intermediates   | ntrolled<br>39  |
| App<br>i     | endix 3: How to document information on risk management in a registration do<br>isolated onsite and transported intermediates in IUCLID  | ssier for<br>41 |
| App          | endix 4: definition of intermediate  | 43              |
| A4.1         | Introduction   | 43              |
| A4.2         | 2 The definition of intermediate in REACH (Article 3(15))  | 43              |
| A4.3         | Conditions for use of substances as intermediates  | 45              |
| <b>A4.</b> 4 | Definition of intermediate use – examples  | 48              |
| A4.4.        | 1 Use of a substance in the manufacturing process of another substance   | 49              |
| Exam         | ple 1: Substances used as reactants – intermediate use   | 49              |
| Exam         | ple 2: Substances used as catalysts - non intermediate use   | 52              |
| Exam         | ple 3: Substances used as processing agent – non intermediate use  | 53              |
| Exam         | ple 4: Use of substances in mixtures - intermediate use  | 54              |
| A4.4.        | 2 Use of substances in production and/or treatment of articles   | 56              |
| Exam         | pple 5: substance used in the production of electrodes in batteries – non-intermediate use   | 56              |

# **1** Introduction

# 1.1 Definition of the different categories of intermediates

REACH defines an **intermediate** as a '*substance that is manufactured for and consumed in or used for chemical processing in order to be transformed into another substance* (herein after referred to as synthesis)' (Article 3(15)).

Different types of intermediates are defined under REACH:

- Non-isolated intermediates
- Isolated intermediates
  - On-site (non transported) isolated intermediates
  - Transported isolated intermediates

**A non-isolated intermediate** is an intermediate that during synthesis is not intentionally removed (except for sampling) from the equipment in which the synthesis takes place. Such equipment includes the reaction vessel, its ancillary equipment, and any equipment through which the substance(s) pass(es) during a continuous flow or batch process as well as the pipework for transfer from one vessel to another for the purpose of the next reaction step, but it excludes tanks or other vessels in which the substance(s) are stored after the manufacture (Article 3(15)(a)).

**On-site isolated intermediate** means an intermediate not meeting the criteria of a nonisolated intermediate and where the manufacture of the intermediate and the synthesis of (an)other substance(s) from that intermediate take place on the same site, operated by one or more legal entities (Article 3(15)(b)).

**A site** means a single location, in which, if there is more than one manufacturer of (a) substance(s), certain infrastructure and facilities are shared (Article 3(16)).

A transported isolated intermediate is an intermediate not meeting the criteria of a non-isolated intermediate and transported between or supplied to other sites (Article 3(15)(c)).

The circumstances under which a substance may or not be regarded as an intermediate under REACH have been clarified by the European Court of Justice in the case C-650/15 P (acrylamide judgment of 25 October 2017 – hereafter referred as the acrylamide case). The judgment has triggered a revision of part of the current guidance, more specifically the Appendix 4 concerning the "Definition of intermediate as agreed by the Commission, Member States and ECHA on 4 May 2010". The revised text has been agreed by ECHA and the European Commission and it has been endorsed by the Member States of the EU at the 45<sup>th</sup> meeting of Competent Autorities for REACH and CLP (CARACAL) on the 6<sup>th</sup> of July 2022. This definition is the starting point of this guidance and it is included in Appendix 4 to the current guidance.

An intermediate is not a type of substance but the use of a substance fulfilling the

conditions specified in the definition above. For conventional purposes this guide will generally use the terminology of an intermediate to refer to the use of a substance as an intermediate.

Depending on the catetory of intermediate different obligations and information requirements apply (see section 1.2.2 on-site isolated intermediates).

The lifecycle of an isolated intermediate begins with its manufacture (in practical terms, with its removal from the manufacturing process). This lifecycle ends with the use of the substance in the synthesis process for the manufacture of another substance.

Residues of the isolated intermediate, which are not transformed into another substance in a manufacturing process, will be typically discarded or disposed of as waste and channelled into waste management when not recycled as a non-isolated or isolated intermediate. Consequently, they no longer fall in the scope of REACH. Where residues of the intermediate are found in the synthesised substance, they are covered – as an impurity - by the registration and evaluation of that other substance.

## **1.2 Tasks and obligations**

## **1.2.1** Non isolated intermediates

For the use of a substance as a non-isolated intermediate, there are no obligations under REACH (Article 2(1)(c)).

## **1.2.2 On-site isolated intermediates**

Manufacturers of substances used as on-site isolated intermediates in quantities of 1 tonne or more per year need to submit a registration dossier unless the substance is exempted from the registration provisions (see further information on the scope of REACH in section 2.2.1 Overview of the registration scope of the Guidance on registration). The information to be submitted for standard registration purposes of a substance (other than registration as an intermediate) is listed under Article 10 and detailed in section 5 Preparation of the registration dossier of the Guidance on registration. However registrants of substances used as on-site isolated intermediates can provide reduced registration information according to Article 17(2) if they confirm that the substance is manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions as described under Article 17(3) and section 2.1 of this guidance.

### **Registration obligations and exemptions**

- Article 2(8) exempts intermediates from the general registration regime referred to in Chapter 1 of Title II of REACH. Instead a manufacturer of an onsite isolated intermediate has to register their substance in quantities of 1 tonne or more per year under a different regime, as specified in chapter 3 of Title II of REACH.
- In the case that a notification under Directive 67/548/EEC had been submitted by the manufacturer/importer of an onsite isolated intermediate, the substance is considered as registered and a registration number was assigned by the Agency (*Article 24(1)*). However, the possibility to claim the registration numbers assigned to NONS notifications has been discontinued since July

2022. If you did not claim the registration number assigned to your notification and you intend to continue manufacturing or importing the substance previously notified under Directive 67/548/EEC in quantities of 1 tonne per year or above, you should follow the registration process set out under REACH. See section 2.2.4.3 Notified substances according to Directive 67/548/EEC, of the Guidance on registration for further information.

- If the manufacturer confirms in their IUCLID registration dossier that the onsite isolated intermediate is manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions (see section 2.1), the information requirements on the substance intrinsic properties (physicochemical, human health and environment properties) are reduced to already available data (e.g. information they hold themselves themselves or that they can obtain from other sources) and only study summaries have to be submitted even if a full study report is available (*Article 17*) (see section 2.2).
- For monomers that are used as on-site isolated intermediates in the production of polymers, the reduced registration provisions for intermediates do not apply *(Article 6(2)),* and the manufacturer has to proceed as for a "standard", non-intermediate, use (see section 3.1 Manufacture/import of monomers of the Guidance for monomers and polymers).
- If strictly controlled conditions are not met, a full (standard) data package is required depending on the tonnage level (*Articles 10 & 12*), and above 10 t/a a chemical safety assessment is required. This includes cases where the update of a dossier leads to such a situation.
- If a substance is no longer used by a registrant as an intermediate only and/or the registrant can no longer confirm that the substance is manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions, the registration dossier will need to be updated according to Article 22 (1) without undue delay to include, depending on the tonnage band within which the substance is registered, all the information required by Articles 10 and 12. See section 7.2 Update on the registrant's own initiative of the Guidance on registration for further information on the deadlines to update a dossier.

### Classification and labelling

Registered isolated intermediates must be classified according to the Reulation (EC) 1272/2008 (CLP Regulation). Information on classification and labelling of substances can be found in the Guidance on application of the CLP criteria.<sup>3</sup> If an isolated intermediate is a substance to be registered (i.e. it is in accordance with Article 39(a) of REACH), the manufacturer/ importer must notify to the Agency the information related to its classification and labelling in accordance with Article 40 of the CLP Regulation. Notification can be done either by sending a separate notification to the Inventory or through inclusion of the relevant information (i.e. the CLP classification and labelling elements), in a registration dossier where this is required. In general, a separate notification will always have to be submitted where the notification is legally due before the registration is submitted. Once a registration dossier is submitted, a separate notification is no longer possible. The manufacturer or importer has to ensure that the information in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/2324906/clp\_en.pdf/58b5dc6d-ac2a-4910-9702-e9e1f5051cc5?t=1499091929578

registration dossier is updated without undue delay, in accordance with REACH Article 22.

If the on-site isolated intermediate is a substance manufactured at less than one ton per year, the manufacturer must notify to the Agency the information related to its classification and labelling in accordance with Article 39 (b) of Regulation (EC) No 1272/2008 if:

- the substance meets the criteria for classification as hazardous and
- they place the intermediate on the market (i.e. they make it available to another legal entity on the same site), either on itw own or ina mixture above the concentration limit specified in the CLP Regulation, which results in the classification of the mixture as hazardous.

Further clarification in relation to notification of the classification and labelling can be found in ECHA's ECHA's `Introductory Guidance on the CLP Regulation<sup>4</sup> and in ECHA's web pages on CLP notification<sup>5</sup>.

### Dossier and substance evaluation

For on-site isolated intermediates, manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions, dossier and substance evaluation do not apply (Article 49). However the Member State Competent Authority (MSCA) where the manufacturing site is located may request additional information when it considers that:

- there is a risk to human health or the environment equivalent to the level of concern arising from the use of a substance of very high concern (substances meeting the criteria in Article 57), and
- that the risk is not properly controlled (Article 49).

### Authorisation/Restriction

Any use of a substance as an on-site isolated intermediate is not subject to authorisation (i.e. Title VII – Authorisation - does not apply) (*Article 2 (8)(b)*). This is also valid for intermediates used as monomers for the synthesis of polymers). On site isolated intermediates are exempted from restriction (article 68(1) of REACH).

## **1.2.3** Transported isolated intermediates

Manufacturers or importers of transported isolated intermediates in quantities of 1 tonne or more per year need to submit a registration dossier unless the substance is exempted from the registration provisions (see further information on the scope of REACH in section 2.2.1 Overview of the registration scope of the Guidance on registration). The information to be submitted for standard registration purposes (i.e. reduced requirements due to strictly control conditions being in place do not apply) is listed under *Article 10* and detailed in section 5 Preparation of the registration dossier of the Guidance on registration. However, a registrant of transported isolated intermediates can provide reduced registration information according to *Article 18(2)* if

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/2324906/clp\_introductory\_en.pdf/b65a97b4-8ef7-4599-b122-7575f6956027?t=1547546145023

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> https://echa.europa.eu/regulations/clp/cl-inventory/notification-to-the-cl-inventory

- they confirm in their IUCLID registration dossier that they are manufacturing and/or using the substance under strictly controlled conditions, and
- if they declare in their IUCLID registration dossier that they have received confirmation from all the users further down the chain that the substance is used under strictly controlled conditions as described under *Article 18(4)* and section 2.1 of this guidance. In that case both the registrant and the users are each liable for their own statement regarding the strictly controlled conditions.

### Registration obligations and exemptions

- Article 2(8) exempts intermediates from the general registration regime referred to in Chapter 1 of Title II of REACH. Instead, a manufacturer or importer of a transported isolated intermediate has to register their substance in quantities of 1 tonne or more per year under a different regime, as specified in Chapter 3 of Title II of REACH. When manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions and the annual quantity of substance is 1000 tonnes or more, the data requirements on the substance's intrinsic properties (physicochemical, human health and environment properties) as specified in Annex VII must be included in addition to the information required under Chapter 3 of title II of REACH.
- In the case that a notification under Directive 67/548/EEC had been submitted by the manufacturer/importer of an onsite isolated intermediate, the substance is considered as registered and a registration number was assigned by the Agency (Article 24(1)). However, the possibility to claim the registration numbers assigned to NONS notifications has been discontinued since July 2022. If you did not claim the registration number assigned to your notification and you intend to continue manufacturing or importing the substance previously notified under Directive 67/548/EEC in quantities of 1 tonne per year or above, you should follow the registration process set out under REACH. See section 2.2.4.3 Notified substances according to Directive 67/548/EEC, of the Guidance on registration for further information.

If you claimed the registration number assigned to your notification and the quantity of the notified substance reaches the next tonnage threshold under Article 12 of the REACH Regulation, additional required information shall be submitted (Article 24(2)).

- If the manufacturer or importer confirms that they are manufacturing and/or using the substance under strictly controlled conditions and they confirm themselves or state that they have received confirmation from the users that the substance is used under strictly controlled conditions (section 2.1) and the annual quantity of substance is less than 1000 tonnes, the information requirements on the substance's intrinsic properties (physicochemical, human health and environment properties) are reduced to existing available data (e.g. information they hold themselves or that they can obtain from other sources) and only study summaries have to be submitted even if a full study report is available (*Article 18*) (see 2.3).
- For monomers that are used as transported isolated intermediate for the production of polymers the reduced registration provisions for intermediates do not apply (*Article 6 (2)*), and the manufacturer has to proceed as for a "standard" substance (see section 3.1 Manufacture/import of monomers of the Guidance for monomers and polymer).
- Where strictly controlled conditions cannot be confirmed, a full (standard) data package is required depending on the tonnage level (*Articles 10 & 12*), and above 10 t/a a chemical safety assessment is required.
- If a substance is no longer used by a registrant as an intermediate only and/or the registrant can no longer confirm that the substance is manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions, the registration dossier will need to

be updated according to Article 22 (1) without undue delay to include, depending on the tonnage band within which the substance is registered, all the information required by Articles 10 and 12. See section 7.2 Update on the registrant's own initiative of the Guidance on registration for further information on the deadlines to update a dossier.

• If the transported intermediate passes the 1000 t/y threshold, then the manufacturer/importer has to update the registration dossier and submit as a minimum the information required under Annex VII.

### Classification and labelling

If the transported isolated intermediate is a substance to be registered under REACH the manufacturer/importer must notify to the Agency the information related to its classification and labelling in accordance with Article 40 of the CLP Regulation if:

- they place the substance on the market (i.e. they make it available to another legal entity on the same site or on another site), and
- they have not already submitted that information as part of a registration or otherwise.

Notification can be done either by sending a separate notification to the Inventory or through inclusion of the relevant information, i.e. the CLP classification and labelling elements, in a registration dossier where this is required. In general, a separate notification will always have to be submitted where the notification is legally due before the registration is submitted. Once a registration dossier is submitted, a separate notification is no longer possible. The manufacturer or importer has to ensure that the information in the registration dossier is updated without undue delay, in accordance with REACH Article 22.

If the transported isolated intermediate is a substance manufactured at less than one ton per year, the manufacturer must notify to the Agency the information related to its classification and labelling in accordance with Article 39(b) of Regulation (EC) No 1272/2008 if:

- the substance meets the criteria for classification as hazardous and
- they place the substance on the market (i.e. they make it available to another legal entity on the same site or on another site), on its own or in a mixture.

### **Dossier and substance evaluation**

Manufacturer / importer must be aware that dossier and substance evaluation apply to transported isolated intermediates. Therefore, the Agency or, if there is no agreement between MSCA, the Commission may request additional information when it is conducting an evaluation. The manufacturer/importer must comply with any such request within the deadline set (see the Guidance on evaluation).

### Authorisation/Restriction

Any use of a substance as a transported isolated intermediate is not subject to authorisation (i.e. Title VII – Authorisation - does not apply) (*Article 2(8)(b)*). This is also valid for intermediates used as monomers for the synthesis of polymers.

Any manufacturer/importer or downstream user must check whether an intermediate is covered by any restriction in Annex XVII of REACH (*Article 67*)

# 2 **Registration of isolated intermediates**

This guidance is intended to support registrants of isolated intermediates in assessing whether the conditions of manufacture and use fulfil the requirements for an isolated intermediate registration set out in *Articles* 17(3) or 18 (4). Also, the guidance includes three annexes describing the content and the format for documenting that strictly controlled conditions apply.

The first task for the registrant is therefore to determine if the substance under investigation is an isolated intermediate manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions and whether it is transported or not, in order to identify the information they have to provide in a registration dossier to fulfil their obligations<sup>6</sup>.

If the manufacturer or importer of a substance manufactures or imports the substance for other purposes than only the use as an intermediate, or if the manufacture or certain use(s) cannot be demonstrated as being carried out under strictly controlled conditions, then the manufacturer or importer needs to submit a "standard" registration dossier according to Article 10. In this situation, if part of the tonnage is manufactured and used as an intermediate under strictly controlled conditions, the registrant can submit one registration dossier covering all their tonnage.

- The information requirements for this registration dossier are then based on the tonnage for non-intermediate uses and for intermediates not used under strictly controlled conditions. The part of the tonnage manufactured or imported for use an intermediate under strictly controlled conditions will not need to be taken into account for the information requirements of the registration dossier. For determination of the registration date all produced volumes of the substance regardless of the substance's use (intermediate, intermediate under SCC, and non-intermediate uses) shall be taken into account
- Nevertheless the use as intermediate should be documented in the dossier, including the volume manufactured or imported for this purpose.
- The fees will be calculated independently for i) the use as intermediate under strictly controlled conditions (fees for intermediates pursuant to Article 4 of Regulation (EC) No 340/2008) and ii) for the other uses (standard fees pursuant to Article 3 of Regulation (EC) No 340/2008).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> It should be noted, though, that **monomers** used as on-site isolated intermediates or transported isolated intermediates do not benefit from the exemption from standard registration requirements which normally applies to intermediates and have to be registered following the registration requirements described in *Article 10 (Article 6(2))*. Therefore for the registration of monomers the Guidance on registration and Guidance for monomers and polymers have to be used.

# **Example 1** of a substance both used as isolated intermediate and non-intermediate

A company manufactures 2300 tonnes per year of substance A, of which 1700 tonnes are used as intermediate in strictly controlled conditions and the other 600 tonnes are used for other purposes not exempted from registration. This company will submit only one registration dossier for substance A, covering the 1700 tonnes used as intermediates and the 600 tonnes for the other purposes. However, the information requirements of the registration dossier will be determined by the 600 tonnes, since for the intermediate use under strictly controlled conditions only a limited set of information is required. This means that the information requirements defined under REACH for the 100-1000 tonnes per year tonnage band will be used as a basis for this dossier. The fact that the substance is also used as an intermediate under strictly controlled conditions should be indicated in the dossier and the volume of 1700 tonnes used as intermediates will also need to be documented in it.

If the manufacturer or importer of the substance manufactures or imports it only for the use as an isolated intermediate under strictly controlled conditions (see 2.1), then the manufacturer or importer can submit a registration dossier with reduced information requirements (according to *Articles 17 and 18*) as described in section 2.2 and section 2.3. More guidance on how to calculate the tonnage is given in section 2.2.6.3 Calculation of the volume for intermediates of the Guidance on registration.

The data requirements for the registration of isolated intermediates manufactured in quantities of 1 tonne or more per year may differ for on-site and transported isolated intermediates (see section 1.2.2 for on-site isolated intermediates and section 1.2.3 for transported isolated intermediates). For transported intermediates, those requirements depend on the manufactured or imported volume which is transported. In case of a transported isolated intermediate in quantities of more than 1000 tonnes per year, also the information specified in Annex VII of REACH should be included (*Article 18(3)*).

## **2.1 Strictly controlled conditions**

For both on-site and transported isolated intermediates the possibility to provide a reduced set of information for their registration applies when:

- For on-site isolated intermediates, the manufacturer confirms that the substance is only manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions (Article 17(3)).
- For transported isolated intermediates, the manufacturer or importer confirms himself or states that he has received confirmation from the user that the synthesis of (an)other substance(s) from that intermediate takes place on other sites under strictly controlled conditions detailed in Article18(4). For transported isolated intermediates that are manufactured in the EU the strictly controlled conditions shall apply both to the manufacture and use of the substance.

Therefore, in order to benefit from the reduced registration requirements the registrants have to first assess if their intermediates are handled under strictly controlled conditions on the sites of manufacture and use. When compiling the registration dossier using

IUCLID<sup>7</sup>, the registrant is asked to include a confirmation in the dossier that-the substance is manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions (see section 2.4).

The definition of strictly controlled conditions in *Article 18(4)* for transported isolated intermediates can also be used as a working basis for isolated on-site intermediates. *Article 18(4)* provides a wider definition of strictly controlled conditions than *Article 17(3)*, the latter being limited to criteria (a) and (b) of the below list. Nevertheless criteria (c) to (f) are also considered appropriate for on-site isolated intermediates, in deciding whether strictly controlled conditions apply.

To assess if the intermediate is manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions during its whole lifecycle, the registrant should evaluate if all the *Article* 18(4) conditions apply:

(a) the substance is rigorously contained by technical means during its whole lifecycle including manufacture, purification, cleaning and maintenance of equipment, sampling, analysis, loading and unloading of equipment or vessels, waste disposal or purification and storage; (see chapter 2.1.1);

(b) procedural and control technologies shall be used that minimise emission and any resulting exposure; (see chapter 2.1.2);

(c) only properly trained and authorised personnel handle the substance; (see chapter 2.1.3);

(d) in the case of cleaning and maintenance works, special procedures such as purging and washing are applied before the system is opened and entered;

(e) in cases of accident and where waste is generated, procedural and/or control technologies are used to minimise emissions and the resulting exposure during purification or cleaning and maintenance procedures; (see chapter 2.1.4);

(f) substance-handling procedures are well documented and strictly supervised by the site operator.

For both types of isolated intermediates, the registrant has two possibilities based on the assessment and description of the conditions under which the substance is manufactured and/or used:

- Submit a registration dossier containing the limited set of data requested for intermediates, provided that they conclude that the substance is manufactured and used) under strictly controlled conditions. In this case, the dossier must contain details on risk management measures applied by the manufacturer (Article 17.2(f) and Article 18.2 (f)) and information on risk management measures recommended to the user (for transported isolated intermediates Article 18.2 (f)).
- Submit a standard registration dossier as described in *Article 10*, if they are not able to demonstrate that the substance is manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions. In case any of the requirements for Article 18.4 (a) to (f) are not met, the registration shall include all the information required by Article 10. It is important to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> International Uniform Chemical Information Database. More information available at https://iuclid6.echa.europa.eu/)

note that absence of rigorous containment or absence of minimisation of release cannot be justified with a risk characterisation ratio.

Strictly controlled conditions should be seen as a combination of technical measures that are underpinned by operating procedures and management systems. Following Article 18 (4), strictly controlled conditions must include the following elements:

- Technical means ensuring rigorous containment during the whole lifecycle including the following activities (Article 18 (4) (a))
  - Manufacture and purification
  - Cleaning and maintenance of equipment
  - Sampling and analysis
  - Loading and unloading of equipment or vessels
  - Waste disposal
  - Storage
- Procedural and control technologies applied to minimise emissions (Article 18 (4) (b) and (e))
  - residual emissions from rigorous containment
  - o emissions from purification, cleaning, maintenance after accidents
  - emissions from purification, cleaning and maintenance where waste is generated
- Special procedures before entering the system (Article 18 (4) d)
- Trained and authorised personnel (Article 18 (4) (c)
- Procedures well documented and supervised (Article 18 (4) (f))

This approach to managing potential risks to human health and the environment aligns with, and also acknowledges, the existing regulatory obligations that impact on manufacturers of substances (e.g. control of accidents under Directive 2012/18/EU<sup>8</sup>, Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control under Directive 2010/75/EU<sup>9</sup>, occupational protection under the Chemical Agents Directive 98/24/EC<sup>10</sup>).

Rigorous containment by technical means aims to prevent releases by technical design of the process or product. The physico-chemical properties of the substance and the processing conditions (such as temperature and pressure) may have an impact on the level and type of containment measures that are required.

It should be emphasized that strictly controlled conditions must be achieved without taking into account the use of personal protective equipment (PPE) except for the exceptional situations hereunder (accidents, incidents, maintenance and cleaning). PPE can only be part of the strictly controlled concept as far as it aims at limiting exposure resulting from:

• Accidents and incidents that may occur despite appropriate management systems and operational procedures to prevent such incidents and accidents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Directive 2012/18/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 July 2012 on the control of majoraccident hazards involving dangerous substances, amending and subsequently repealing Council Directive 96/82/EC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Directive 2010/75/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 November 2010 on industrial emissions (integrated pollution prevention and control)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Council Directive 98/24/EC of 7 April 1998 on the protection of the health and safety of workers from the risks related to chemical agents at work.

• Maintenance and cleaning works, providing that special procedures such as purging and washing are applied before the system is opened or entered.

Full documentation of the strictly controlled conditions in place is not required in the registration dossier, however the registrant should give a basic indication on how the conclusion concerning strictly controlled conditions are reached in each use described in the IUCLID dossier. In each IUCLID use, the non-technical means for strict control, the technical ones for rigorous containment and strict control for manual intervention together wih the technoclogies to minimise the emissions should be described (more information is available in the manual How to prepare registration and PPORD dossiers<sup>11</sup>. Information for documenting information on risk management in a registration dossier is given in Appendix 3. Nevertheless, there should be detailed internal documentation within a company in order to demonstrate that strictly controlled conditions apply throughout the whole life cycle of the intermediate. The national enforcement authorities may request such information. Note that where relevant documentation for compliance with other legislative frameworks can also be referred to. The detailed internal documentation within the company should at least include:

- justification for considering that the substance is used as an intermediate and customers' statements concerning the use as an intermediate and the fulfilment of strictly controlled conditions in case of a transported isolated intermediate;
- the physical chemical properties of the intermediate relevant for deciding on measures to ensure that strictly controlled conditions apply;
- documentation on the design of the process and the equipment, especially those aspects contributing to the rigorous containment of the substance by technical means;
- the relevant operating conditions;
- measures corresponding to the requirements set out in article 18(4) (b) to (f) implemented by the manufacturer company and recommended to users;
- information on any residual release and resulting exposure that occurs in spite of the rigorous containment measures by technical means; and
- available relevant physico chemical toxicological and eco-toxicological information and any relevant reference or threshold value (e.g. community Occupational Exposure Limits (OELs).

To facilitate the process for assessing whether strictly controlled conditions are achieved, Appendix 1 presents an indicative and non-exhaustive list of issues that could be considered. This list is intended to support a structured assessment and documentation by the registrant to decide if strictly controlled conditions apply. For this considerable input by experts (e.g. site managers, engineers) will be needed.

It should be noted that the registrant of a transported isolated intermediate does not need to get access to confidential business information (e.g. fine detail of process technology and/or engineering, etc) from the user(s). This is because the user is responsible for ensuring that they use the intermediate under strictly controlled conditions and to confirm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> <u>https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/22308542/manual\_regis\_and\_ppord\_en.pdf/891754cb-a6b6-4bb6-8538-52ccde74070e</u>

this to the registrant.

An example of a general format to document how the substance is manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions is provided in Appendix 2. This would contain information and justifications for the issues addressed in Appendix 1. Note that any information produced for the purpose of other legislation (e.g. for worker protection) can also be used as <u>an element</u> to demonstrate that strictly controlled conditions apply.

Information on details of the risk management measures applied at the manufacturing site and recommended to the user in order to achieve strictly controlled conditions, have to be included in the registration dossier. Existing legislative frameworks or industry standards can be referred to when documenting such risk management measures. The format in Appendix 3 is recommended to explain the risk management measures in the IUCLID registration dossier.

# 2.1.1 Rigorous containment of the substance by technical means

Rigorous containment is achieved by the technical design of a process and the equipment which aims at preventing releases. The physico-chemical properties of a substance are one factor to take into account in determining the right design to achieve rigorous containment, together with the process conditions if this is relevant. Rigorous containment is applicable to handling of intermediates at any scale. Release of the substance should be prevented through containment systems, such as combinations of suitable mechanical barriers (e.g. enclosures) and air dynamic barriers (e.g. Local Exhaust Ventilation (LEV) as integrated part of the containment and differential pressure).

According to Article 18 (4):

"the substance is rigorously contained by technical means during its whole lifecycle including manufacture, purification, cleaning and maintenance of equipment, sampling, analysis, loading and unloading of equipment or vessels, waste disposal or purification and storage".

To be able to confirm and document the rigorous containment of the substance, the registrant should characterise the process conditions and the equipment used during the whole life-cycle of the substance, taking into account the physical-chemical properties of the substance.

The description of these technical means and conditions should allow the identification of potential residual exposure of workers and the environment to the substance. It should for instance specify the means of rigorous containment for the different functional elements (pressurised vessels, seals, sacks, containers, drums, etc.) involved during the whole process such as manufacture, transfer (filling, emptying, etc.) or sampling of the substance when potential residual emission could be expected to the workplace or the environment.

Within a rigorously contained overall process, different containment strategies may be used for different processing steps. For example, containment measures for i) batch filling and emptying of equipment (via hose lines, pipe joints), ii) for sampling (transfer from one container to another container via closed sampler), iii) for cleaning and maintenance and iv) for transfer and management of the isolated intermediate in bulk through pipelines and dedicated bulk storage facilities can be different from each other. Examples of technical measures that could be implemented in order to ensure rigorous containment are given in examples 2 to 7 for worker and environmental protection in different industrial sectors. Those examples are in no way binding or exhaustive but illustrate the types of measures or some specific unit operations (e.g. loading/unloading and substance handling) that can be applied.

Example 2 illustrates how to systematically determine a suitable containment strategy based on the control banding approach as outlined in the book 'Containment systems - A design guide, edited by Nigel Hirst, Mike Brocklebank, Martyn Ryder, published by Institution of Chemical Engineers (IChemE) UK , 2002.

The Control Banding Approach in example 2 comprises 5 levels of control. Strategy 1 represents the lowest level of control (not regarded as rigorous containment), the only technical measure in place is general ventilation. In containment level 2, LEV is applied, but the LEV is not further integrated into a system of mechanical barriers. Since the substance is still manipulated directly and thus PPE may be required, in general, level 2 does not constitute rigorous containment. However, LEV can be an integrated part of the containment strategy 3, requiring partial or full mechanical enclosure in addition. The following illustration of strategy mentions glove-ports and direct coupling, other technical solutions however, exist as well. The level of enclosure by mechanical barriers increases from strategy 3 to strategy 5 which represents a very high level of containment requiring a fully automated enclosed process. Each level of containment is supported by a corresponding containment strategy that provides clear practical advice on design and process equipment, maintenance, access, examination and testing, cleaning and housekeeping, personal protective equipment, training and supervision. In other words, the containment strategy defines the criteria for rigorous containment at a practical level.

# **Example 2: Containment strategies for handling of substances (example of technical measures)**

For illustration see enclosed 5 principal schemes reflecting the different strategies. (Source: Hirst H., Brocklebank M., Ryder M. (Eds), Containments Systems- A Design guide, Institution of Chemicals Engineers (IChemE), 2002.



| Strategy 2  | Strategy 3  | Strategy 4  | Strategy 5   |
|---|---|---|--|
| F.  | F   | E I   |  |
| Relative location of<br>operations and LEV<br>should prevent escape<br>of contaminants into<br>the general working<br>area.   | Enclosures should be<br>maintained under<br>negative pressure to<br>prevent leakage.  | Enclosures should be<br>maintained under<br>negative pressure to<br>prevent leakage.  | Enclosures must be<br>fitted with secondary<br>envelope, both<br>maintained under<br>negative pressure to<br>prevent leakage.  |
| Exhausted air may be<br>recirculated only if first<br>cleaned by a high-<br>capacity filter backed<br>up by a safe-change<br>High-efficiency<br>Particulate Arrestor<br>(HEPA). | Contaminated air from<br>the extraction system<br>should be passed<br>through a suitable<br>safe-change HEPA<br>before being exhausted<br>outside the building. | Contaminated air from<br>the extraction system<br>must be passed through<br>a suitable safe-change<br>HEPA before being<br>exhausted outside the<br>building. | Contaminated air from<br>the extraction system<br>must be passed through<br>at least a double<br>safe-change HEPA<br>before being exhausted<br>outside the building. |
| A regular preventive<br>maintenance<br>programme should be<br>implemented for air<br>extraction systems.  | Regular certification<br>and testing of the<br>filtration system will be<br>required.   | Regular certification<br>and testing of the<br>filtration system will<br>be required.   | The filtration system<br>must be backed up by a<br>second system. Regular<br>certification and testing<br>of both systems is<br>required.                            |
| Operator manipulates<br>compounds directly.<br>PPE may be required.   | Operator manipulates<br>compounds via<br>glove-box interface.   | Operator may prepare<br>containers for transfer<br>direct from container to<br>vessel.  | Containers for transfer<br>must be prepared by<br>robot control in an<br>enclosed process.   |

Note: Illustrative examples regarding the technical implementation of these strategies can be found in the COSHH control guidance sheets  $^{\rm 12}$ 

<sup>12</sup> https://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/guidance/index.htm

# **Example 3: Pharmaceutical industry: examples of technical measures for workers and environmental protection**

Containment is implemented to prevent exposure of the worker and the environment. The design and selection of control technologies and equipment is based upon a set of performance based criteria. The selection of control measures aim to control and prevent emissions at source. Examples of technical measures may include:

Transfers using direct coupling and closed systems, such as:

- Vertical process trains
- Special valves such as split butterfly type
- Vacuum transfer

Totally enclosed processes; transfers using direct coupling; barrier/isolator technology, such as:

- Isolation technology e.g. isolators
- Intermediate bulk containers with split butterfly valves
- Soft Wall Isolators (Glove bags)
- Alpha Beta Rapid Transfer systems on enclosures
- Specialized vacuum transfer systems

# **Example 4: Petrochemical Industry: example of technical measures for workers and environmental protection**

Bulk petrochemical intermediates will invariably be handled in a chemical plant of a high integrity that is designed to minimise potential for emissions to air and water. Typical examples of control measures and systems in place to deliver such strictly controlled conditions include:

- Enclosed transfers designed to prevent leaks e.g. self-draining transfer lines
- High integrity methods of material loading and unloading (e.g dry lock couplings, vapour capture and recovery)
- Plant designed to facilitate the draining and flushing of plant equipment items prior to maintenance, with recycle and/or suitable disposal of wastes
- High integrity (low emission) valve packing and flange seals
- In-line process controls and/or contained systems for process sampling
- Low emission pumps e.g. canned, magnetic, mechanical seals
- Routine monitoring and inspection for leaks to reduce fugitive emissions

# **Example 5:** Fine chemicals industry: examples of technical and organizational measures for workers and environmental protection

Handling intermediates in batch fine chemicals facilities will require that the plant engineering and systems are designed to prevent emissions to air and water. Typical examples of control measures and systems which might be encountered to deliver such strictly controlled conditions include:

- Material transfers via enclosed systems (e.g. semi-bulk containers such as IBCs)
- Enclosed and vented charging systems (e.g. bag slitters with integral package disposal)

- Reaction vessel held by under-pressure (negative pressure). Exhaust air filtered and subsequently incinerated. Vessels connected via fixed pipes.
- Discharging arrangements designed to minimise emissions (e.g. into drums/kegs via pneumatic filling heads and continuous liners;, connection of big bags done in a full enclosure (e.g. glove box.)
- Use of containers fitted with inliners for intermediate packaging and transport.
- Plant designed to facilitate the draining and flushing (and detoxification) of equipment items prior to maintenance
- Maximal use made of automated process control systems to minimise manual interventions
- Contained process sample systems (e.g. vented cabinets or sample bombs)
- Loading/unloading in a closed collection pan to prevent spillage into waste water

### Example 6: Chemical industry: railway car loading and unloading of liquid products

Loading and unloading of railway car of liquid, volatile, products.

The substance is stored into storage tanks and loaded into railway cars in order to be transported to another production site.

- Railway cars are loaded through connection arms.
- Informatic control system exists in order that loading can start only when the arm is well connected.
- At the end before disconnection, purge of arms is performed with N2 and gaseous substance is sent back to the tank as well as liquid phase in order to be recycled.
- Arm in aval is purged into a container which is re-injected into the unit through flexible hoses.
- Flexibles are cleaned and water is collected for treatment.
- OC & SCC implemented to protect workers & environment
- Loading of wagon is done through an automated connection arm equipped with recommended diameter (DN 80 for liquid and DN 50 for gas)
- All couplings are equipped with ONIS line blind system, avoiding exposure to residual hazardous chemicals

### **Example 7: Chemical and petrochemical industry: examples of technical measures for workers and environmental protection**

# Storage tanks for highly volatile substances have floating internal roofs and double mechanical sealing

Examples of technical measures:

- Enclosed transfers designed to prevent leaks (self-draining transfer lines).
- Plant design to facilitate draining and flushing prior to maintenance.
- High integrity (low emission) valve packings and flange seals (The rating of the
- valve type is in accordance to Fugitive Emission Tightness Class, Flange gaskets specified and the intermediate properties)
- Routine monitoring and inspection for leaks to reduce fugitive emissions.
- Storage tanks have floating internal roofs with double mechanical sealing
- Systems are situated on concrete bases within a bund of a capacity required by the environmental permit. The tank floor and base sections of the walls are also painted to

prevent corrosion. The tanks are cathodically protected. Storage tanks are installed with level controls incorporating High and High-High level alarms and an independent High level alarm.

Loading and unloading of volatile liquid substances to/from tanks / truck tanks and railway tanks. Examples of technical measures for containment and minimization of releases during loading/unloading operations.

- Top loading through dome with cone and with vapor recovery
- Top loading with dip tube and with vapor recovery
- Top loading with dip tube and with inert gas blanketing
- Bottom loading with closed manhole and with vapor recovery
- Bottom loading with closed manhole and with blanketing
- Bottom unloading by compressed air or inert gas
- Bottom unloading by pump with closed manhole and with intake of air
- Bottom unloading by gravity with closed manhole and with vapor return
- Bottom unloading by pump with closed manhole and with vapor return
- Bottom unloading by pump with closed manhole and with inert gas
- Top unloading by pump with closed manhole and with vapor return

Measured release and exposure data is a useful element to demonstrate that rigorous containment is achieved. If such data is not available, reliable exposure model calculations can be used for this purpose.

### 2.1.2 Procedural and control technologies to minimise emission and any resulting exposure

Releases and any resulting exposure occurring despite rigorous containment by technical means of the process are to be minimised by procedural and control technologies. For example, in case of releases to waste water (including during cleaning and maintenance processes), strictly controlled conditions include techniques to minimise the emissions by, for example, incinerating the waste water or removal of substances by onsite treatment, before discharging the waste water. The same approach applies to emissions to air. Some techniques to control emissions to the environment are listed in Example 8.

The effectiveness of any methods applied to minimise emissions and resulting exposure would be described in the detailed documentation kept in-house. Furthermore some details of these methods (e.g. efficiency) may need to be included in the registration dossier.

The documentation and description of methods applied can be based on the company's IPPC licence or permit, as long as sufficient and adequate documentation of the compliance with the conditions of the permit are available, and demonstrate strictly controlled conditions. In general, the relevant IPPC (Directive 2008/1/EC) Best Available Technique Reference Document (BREF)<sup>13</sup> can be used as a starting point to demonstrate the effectiveness of procedural and control technologies from the perspective of minimisation. Examples for such control technologies can be found in BREFs on processing in chemical industry and on "Common Waste Water and Waste Gas Treatment/Management Systems in the Chemical Sector".

<sup>13</sup> http:// http://eippcb.jrc.es/reference/

### **Example 8: Some technical measures to control emissions to the environment**

Waste gas incineration: complete destruction of waste gases at high temperatures for a specified minimum residence time, as calculated by an engineer.

- Condenser: low temperature devices through which waste vapours are sent causing them to liquefy and be collected.
- Scrubber: number of types available. Usually packed columns around which an appropriate scrubbing solution circulates, as specified by an engineer. The waste vapours from a process and/or area are passed through the scrubber causing the fumes to be trapped in the scrubbing solution. The waste scrubber solution is then disposed of by incineration.
- HEPA-filter: a filter designed to trap small particles. The general air from an area or a piece of equipment passes through the filter before discharge to atmosphere. The contaminated filter is then disposed of by incineration.
- WWTP: a wastewater treatment plant is a biological and/or physical/<u>chemical</u> system to which the aqueous waste streams from a process and washing/cleaning solutions are sent. Traces of the substance are removed from the water before discharge into the environment. Please note: Whether a WWTP fulfils the minimisation requirement depends on the inherent properties of the substance. For example
  - Releases of substances which are not ready biodegradable cannot be minimised by biological treatment.
  - Releases of substances adsorbed to a particulate matrix during treatment will only be regarded as minimised if the subsequent sludge treatment leads to the elimination of the substance.
- Cryogenic treatment: very low temperature condenser which traps all the condensable materials as a liquid or a solid. This liquid or solid is then disposed of by incineration.
- Biofilter: A bio-filter is a biological system where certain substances in vent streams are degraded by mico organisms

## **2.1.3** Handling of the substance by trained personnel

In order to minimise emissions and any resulting exposure, only trained and authorised personnel can handle the substance (*Article* 18(4)(c)). As a minimum, the workers who handle intermediates would be provided with:

- training and information on process and task specific operating procedures, appropriate precautions, working procedures during the malfunctioning of the process and in accidental situations, and actions to be taken in order to safeguard themselves and other workers at the workplace. Appropriate filing and documentation of training shall be available on site.
- access to a safety data sheet (SDS), which includes information on the hazardous properties and on PBT/vPvB properties of the substance, such as its identity, the risks

to safety and health, relevant occupational exposure limit values (EU and national ones) and other relevant legislative provisions.

These procedures should apply to all personnel handling the substance including during cleaning and maintenance works.

### 2.1.4 Cases of accident and where waste is generated

There must be procedural and/or control technologies in place that are used for minimising emissions in cases of accidents and in cases where waste is generated (*Article 18(4)(e)*). In this, the clarifications according to Directive 2014/34/EU<sup>14</sup> on the control of major-accident hazards involving dangerous substances and Directive 94/9/EC concerning equipment and protective systems intended for use in potentially explosive atmospheres might usefully be consulted and the requirements implemented. Please note: For waste treatment operations, reference should be made to the corresponding technique contained in the BREF document on Common Waste Water and Waste Gas Treatment/Management Systems in the Chemical Sector<sup>15</sup>.

## 2.1.5 Management Systems

Management systems are good options to ensure the proper application of risk management measures. A management system includes appropriate operational procedures to ensure that control measures are indeed applied<sup>16</sup>. Such a system may also define management responsibilities, authorisation procedures (e.g. for maintenance or opening of equipment), inspection and auditing requirements etc.

On any given site, a management system should contain reference to procedures for accident prevention and response. It may be appropriate to link this system to operational engineering control systems. In case of a transported intermediate, the various parties involved (supplier and customer) each will need a management system in order to ensure rigorous containment and controlled conditions over the life cycle of the intermediate.

## **2.1.6 Summary of principles**

The key principles of strictly controlled conditions for registration of intermediates under *Article 17* and *Article 18* of REACH are summarised below:

- All conditions of Article 18 (4) are to be met at the same time. The full life cycle of the intermediate is to be covered under strictly controlled conditions;
- If SCC conditions are declared, risk characterization cannot be used to justify a lack or absence of rigorous containment and emission minimisation technologies;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Directive 2014/34/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 February 2014 on the harmonisation of the laws of the Member States relating to equipment and protective systems intended for use in potentially explosive atmospheres

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>https://eippcb.jrc.ec.europa.eu/reference/common-waste-water-and-waste-gas-treatmentmanagement-systems-chemical-sector-0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> In practice management systems include the structure to respond to accidents and demonstrate compliance with relevant occupational and environmental legislation and/or standards.

- Design of rigorous containment must prevent workers to be exposed (by technical means) to the substance and the substance to be released to the environment. In order to reach this goal, the most efficient rigorous containment strategy has to be identified for each specific process step, taking into account the process conditions and the physico-chemical properties of the intermediate. The containment strategy may consist of a combination of mechanical and air dynamic barriers;
- The technical means of containment and the control technologies are always to be considered in context with procedural control and training of workers. Thus rigorous containment and procedural control (including training) together are the elements of a strictly controlled conditions strategy;
- Release and exposure data is an additional useful element to verify that rigorous containment is achieved. Reliable exposure model calculations may also be used for this purpose.

# 2.2 Registration requirements for on-site isolated intermediates.

On-site isolated intermediates manufactured in quantities of 1 tonne or more per year have to be registered to the Agency. In order to benefit from the reduced registration requirements for on-site isolated intermediates, the manufacturer must confirm that the substance is used and manufactured only under strictly controlled conditions during its whole lifecycle as defined in *Article 17(3)* (see also section 2.1).

The information required under *Article* 17(2) is the following:

- **The identity of the manufacturer**: the information to be submitted is detailed in section 5.2.1 General information of the registrant and on the registered substance of the Guidance on registration.
- **The identity of the intermediate**: the information to be submitted to identify the substance is the same as that to be submitted for a full registration (see section 5.2.1 General information of the registrant and on the registered substance of the Guidance on registration).
- **The classification of the intermediate:** the registrant has to determine the classification of their substance with respect to physicochemical properties, environment and human health. This classification has to be documented in section 2 of IUCLID, under the heading "classification". More guidance on classification and labelling is available in section 5.2.2 Classification and labelling of the Guidance on registration.
- Any available existing information on physicochemical, human health or environmental properties of the intermediate: when the registrant is in legitimate possession or has the permission to refer to a full study report (a full study report or study summary can be used freely after at least 12 years after its submission in the framework of a registration (*Article 25(3)*), they shall submit a study summary within their registration, unless in case of joint registration when the lead registrant submits the information (see section 2.5).
- A brief general description of the use: only a brief general description of the identified use(s) of the substance as described in section 3.5 of Annex VI is

required for isolated intermediates. More details can be found on what needs to be reported in section 5.2.3 Manufacture, use and exposure of the Guidance on registration.

• Details of the risk management measures applied: the details of the risk management measures (see Appendix 3) should be reported in IUCLID. The information has to include a description of the effectiveness of the risk management measures applied, sufficient to demonstrate that the substance is rigorously contained during its whole lifecycle and that it is manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions. More information on how to describe the risk management measures applied and their efficiency is available under Appendix 3.

If from the available information and knowledge of the process the registrant is not able to conclude that the substance is manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions, a full registration in accordance with *Article 10* has to be submitted as described under the Guidance on registration.

Regarding the communication of RMM to the users of the intermediate, section 8.2 of Annex II of Commission Regulation 453/2010<sup>17</sup> states that: "Where a substance has been registered as an isolated intermediate (on-site or transported), the supplier shall indicate that this safety data sheet is consistent with the specific conditions relied on to justify the registration in accordance with Article 17 or 18.

As a consequence, risk management measures complying with the provisions of Article 18.4 should be described to the user within the SDS for on-site isolated intermediates.

# 2.3 Registration requirements for transported isolated intermediates

Transported isolated intermediates have to be registered to the Agency if they are manufactured or imported in quantities of 1 tonne or more per year. In order to benefit from the reduced registration requirements for transported isolated intermediates, the manufacturer or importer must confirm themselves or state that they have received confirmation from user(s) that the substance is used and manufactured only under strictly controlled conditions during its whole lifecycle as defined in *Article 18(4)* (see also section 2.1).

Therefore the registrant of a transported intermediate should first get the necessary confirmation from the different users to whom the substance is supplied whether the substance is used under strictly controlled conditions or not.

For transported isolated intermediates below 1000 t/a, the information required under *Article* 18(2) is the following:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Commission Regulation (EU) No 453/2010 of 20 May 2010 amending Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the Registration, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH). OJ L 133, 31.5.2010.

- **The identity of the manufacturer or importer**: the information to be submitted is detailed in section 5.2.1 General information of the registrant and on the registered substance of the Guidance on registration.
- **The identity of the intermediate**: the information to be submitted to identify the substance is the same as that to be submitted for a full registration (see section section 5.2.1 General information of the registrant and on the registered substance of the Guidance on registration) with the exception of analytical methods descriptions (section 2.3.5 to 2.3.7 of Annex VI) which are not required.
- **The classification of the intermediate:** the registrant has to determine the classification of their substance with respect to physicochemical properties, environment and human health. This classification has to be documented in section 2 of IUCLID, under the heading "classification". More guidance on classification and labelling is available in section 5.2.2 Classification and labelling of the Guidance on registration.
- Any available existing information on physicochemical, human health or environmental properties of the intermediate: when the registrant is in legitimate possession or has the permission to refer to a full study report (a full study report or study summary can be used freely after at least 12 years after its submission in the framework of a registration (*Article 25(3)*), they shall submit a study summary within their registration, unless in case of joint registration when the lead registrant submits the information (see section 2.5).
- A brief general description of the use: only a brief general description of the identified use(s) of the substance as described in section 3.5 of Annex VI is required for isolated intermediates. More details can be found on what needs to be reported in section 5.2.3 Manufacture, use and exposure of the Guidance on registration.
- Details of the risk management measures applied and recommended to the user, making reference to Article 18(4): the details of the risk management measures should be reported in IUCLID (see Appendix 3). The information must include a description of the effectiveness of the risk management measures applied, sufficient to demonstrate that the substance is rigorously contained during its whole lifecycle and that it is manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions. More information on how to describe the risk management measures applied and their effectiveness is available in Appendix 3.

For transported isolated intermediates in quantities of 1000 tonnes or more per year per manufacturer or importer the registrant shall include in addition information specified in Annex VII of the Regulation. More details can be found on what needs to be reported in the Guidance on registration.

From the available information and knowledge of the process on the different sites, or if no confirmation is available, the registrant may not be able to conclude that the substance is used under strictly controlled conditions. In that case, a full registration with the standard information requirements defined in REACH and described in the Guidance on registration has to be submitted taking into account the manufactured or imported tonnage of the substance.

Regarding the communication of RMM to the users of the intermediate, section 8.2 of

Annex II of Commission Regulation 453/2010<sup>18</sup> states that: "Where a substance has been registered as an isolated intermediate (on-site or transported), the supplier shall indicate that this safety data sheet is consistent with the specific conditions relied on to justify the registration in accordance with Article 17 or 18.

As a consequence, risk management measures complying with the provisions of Article 18.4 should be described to the user within the SDS for transported isolated intermediates.

# 2.4 Preparation of a registration dossier for isolated intermediates

Article 111 requires that the format of the technical dossier must be IUCLID (International Uniform Chemical Information Database). This means that also other IT tools could be used to prepare the dossiers as long as they produce the exact same format. In this document only the preparation of registration dossier using IUCLID is described. The last version of this software is IUCLID which will be used as the reference in this document and for which a specific guidance is available Guidance on IUCLID. The IUCLID software will be downloadable from the IUCLID website at <a href="http://iuclid.eu">http://iuclid.eu</a> free of charge by all parties, if used for non-commercial purposes.

The full registration dossier should be submitted via REACH IT to the Agency as described in section 5.2 Preparation of the technical dossier of the Guidance on registration.

For intermediates, IUCLID enables the registrant to created a registration dossier for either on-site isolated intermediates, transported isolated intermediates produced at up to 1000 tonnes and transported isolated intermediates produced at 1000 tonnes or more per year. In each case, all available and relevant information need to be reported in the registration dossier. Depending on the template chosen by the registrant the fields to be filled in IUCLID (explained in Appendix 3) are clearly identified (more information are available in the manual How to prepare registration and PPORD dossiers<sup>19</sup>).

# 2.5 Joint submission of data on isolated intermediates by multiple registrants.

A substance being used as an isolated intermediate (on-site or transported) may be manufactured or imported by several different registrants, for intermediate or non intermediate uses. In such situation joint registration needs to be submitted. The registrants have to follow the general guidance developed for joint registration (see section 4.3 Joint submission of data of the Guidance on registration).

Specific rules apply to registrants of intermediates as specified in *Article 19*.

Once the lead registrant has been identified, they have to submit first the following joint

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Commission Regulation (EU) No 453/2010 of 20 May 2010 amending Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the Registration, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH). OJ L 133, 31.5.2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> <u>https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/22308542/manual\_regis\_and\_ppord\_en.pdf/891754cb-a6b6-4bb6-8538-52ccde74070e</u>

information with the agreement of the other manufacturer(s) or importer(s):

- the classification of the intermediate, and
- any available existing information on physicochemical, human health and environmental properties of the intermediate.
- In case one of the registrant manufactures or imports isolated transported intermediates at or above 1000 tonnes, it is recommended that the lead registrant provides the information in Annex VII, in accordance with article 18(3).

Each registrant shall then submit separately specific information:

- identity of manufacturer
- identity of intermediate
- a brief general description of the use (i.e. intermediate for chemical synthesis)
- details of the risk management measures

If one registrant does not want to submit information on the classification or on the physicochemical, human health and environmental properties jointly, it is possible for them to do it separately, as far as there is a clear and justified rationale of separate submission according to the reasons set in *Article 19(2)*. These reasons are:

- *it would be disproportionately costly for him to submit them jointly, or*
- submitting the information jointly would lead to disclosure of information which he considers to be commercially sensitive and is likely to cause him substantial commercial detriment, or
- *he disagrees with the lead registrant on the selection of this information.*

A general guidance on how to document reasons for submitted data separately for joint registration is available in section 4.3.3 Conditions for opting out from the jointly submitted data of theGuidance on registration.

## 2.6 Time lines

The same rules apply for the registration of intermediates and the registration of non intermediates. For more information see section 2.3 When to register? of the Guidance on registration

Substances already notified under Directive 67/548/EEC, are considered as registered. Nevertheless some provisions apply and details can be found in section 2.2.4.3 Notified substances according to Directive 67/548/EEC of the Guidance on registration.

## 2.7 Registration fee

Registration fees are specified in Fee Regulation (EC) 340/2008. For more information see the section on Fee Regulation (EC) 340/2008 of the Guidance on registration.

## Appendix 1: Illustrative list of issues that may be taken into consideration for checking that the isolated intermediates are manufactured and used under strictly controlled conditions

## This list can be used by

- the registrant of an isolated intermediate (the manufacturer or importer) and
- the user of the intermediate wishing to confirm to the registrant that their use takes place under strictly controlled conditions

The documentation needs to contain a justification of the relevant issues listed below.

### 1. Has the life cycle of the substance been accounted for?

- a) Manufacture of the intermediate? Continuous process or batch operation? Scale of operation?
- b) Use of the intermediate? Continuous process or batch operation? Scale of the operation?
- c) Final synthesis process?
- d) Any purification step?
- e) Sampling and analysis?
- f) Loading and unloading from equipment or vessels and any other substance transfers?
- g) Any relevant storage?
- h) Waste treatment?

## 2. Is rigorous containment by technical means in place?,

- a) The substance is rigorously contained by the following means: (provide technical details of rigorous containment for each life cycle step under point 1)
- b) Procedures to ensure containment has been applied and maintained for all stages of production and processing
- c) Management system is in place
- d) Implementation of existing EU legislation
- e) Monitoring measurements to check on potential remaining emissions are being carried out. This includes: .....

### 3. Are procedural and control technologies being used to minimise emissions?

- a) Residual emissions from rigorous containment occur at the following steps of the processes. ...... These emissions are minimised by the following procedural and control techniques (differentiation regarding work-places and environment required): ......
- b) Emissions from purification, cleaning and maintenance after accidents are minimised by the following procedural and control techniques (differentiation regarding work-places and environment required): .....
- c) Emissions from purification, cleaning and maintenance are minimised by the following procedural and control techniques (differentiation regarding work-places and environment required): ......
- d) Emissions from waste handling is minimised by the following procedural and control techniques (differentiation regarding work-places and environment required):

### 4. Are only properly trained and authorised personnel handling the substance?

- a) Relevant training or authorisation scheme covers this substance and/or process
- b) A procedure ensures that only trained and authorised persons handle the substance
- c) Other legislative frameworks that control the handling of the substance have been considered

# 5. Are special procedures applied before the system is opened and entered during cleaning and maintenance works?

- a) Process procedures for containment during cleaning and maintenance have been accounted for in plant and engineering design as appropriate for the site
- b) Operational procedure system checks include cleaning and maintenance of process equipment
- c) Risk management measures are applied during cleaning and maintenance
- d) Specific procedures before the system is opened. These include e.g. purging and washing and ..... (further specify)

# 6. Are substance-handling procedures well documented and supervised by the site operator?

a) Occupational procedures have been assessed and are documented

### 7. For transported isolated intermediates:

 a) Confirmation that the synthesis of (an)other substance(s) from that intermediate takes place under strictly controlled conditions on other sites has been documented

## Appendix 2: Example of format for documenting inhouse information on strictly controlled conditions of isolated intermediates

## This format can be used by

- the registrant of an isolated intermediate (the manufacturer or importer) and
- the user of the intermediate wishing to confirm to the registrant that their use takes place under strictly controlled conditions

## 1. Description of technological process used in manufacture

## 2. Description of the uses of the substance.

Give a description of the uses of the substance on the different sites.

Check that any relevant storage, processing and the synthesis process of the final substance have been accounted for.

## 3. Is the substance rigorously contained:

## a. During the manufacturing process?

- Description of the process and technical means to contain the substance.
- Identification of potential emissions to:
  - Workplace
  - Environment
- Modelling estimations or available monitoring data if needed
- Procedure and systems in place to comply with existing health, safety and environmental legislation.

## b. During the use?

- Description of the process and technical means to contain the substance.
- Identification of potential emissions to:
  - Workplace
  - Environment (air, waste water, soil, etc.)
- Modelling estimations or available monitoring data if needed.

## c. During substance transfers before and after transport?

• Description of the process and technical means to contain the substance.

- Identification of potential emissions to:
  - Workplace
  - Environment (air, wastewater, soil, etc.)
- Modelling estimations or available monitoring data if needed.

# 4. If emissions have been identified on sites of manufacture or uses, are there procedural and control technologies to minimise emission and resulting exposure?

*Give a description of these procedural and control technologies in place, including those applied after accidents and for waste collection and treatment.* 

### 5. Is the substance handled by trained and authorised personnel?

- Is the personnel provided with safety data sheet (SDS) of the substances handled?
- How is it guaranteed that sufficient training and information on appropriate precautions and working procedures (proper labelling of specific working places) is provided at workplace?
- How is it guaranteed that only trained personnel handles dangerous substances?

*Give a description of the information and training in place.* 

## Appendix 3: How to document information on risk management in a registration dossier for isolated onsite and transported intermediates in IUCLID

The information below can be used by the registrant of an isolated intermediate (the manufacturer or importer) to provide a basic indication to which conditions their conclusion refers that SCC are in place in IUCLID.

*Note: This information is not to be published on ECHA's website.* 

# **1.** Brief description of technological process applied in manufacture of the intermediate

Provide an overall technical description (no details). A simple overview scheme may support understanding. Ensure that all relevant activities (unit operations) are covered in this description, such as synthesis, purification steps, cleaning and maintenance, sampling and analysis, loading and unloading, storage and waste treatment

# 2. Brief description of technological processes applied in use of the intermediate.

Provide an overall technical description. A simple overview scheme may support understanding Ensure that all relevant activities (unit operations) are covered in this description, such as synthesis, purification steps, cleaning and maintenance, sampling and analysis, loading and unloading, storage and waste treatment

# **3.** Means of rigorous containment and minimisation technologies applied by the registrant during the manufacturing and/or use process

- Description of the technical means to rigorously contain the substance. Make reference to different activities (unit operations) and life cycle stages as appropriate (see Appendix 1)
- Identification of residual emissions to:
  - Workplace
  - Environment (air, onsite water streams)
- Description of the procedural and control technologies in place to minimise emission and resulting exposure. A rough quantification of the releases and information on effectiveness of control techniques may be useful to demonstrate that the technologies ensure rigorous containment and minimization of releases.
  - Workplace
  - Environment (air, waste water, discharge from site)
- Specify the management means and training that particularly contribute to the functioning of the technical means described above.

# 4. Means of rigorous containment and minimisation technologies recommended to the user of the intermediate:

- Description of the technical means to rigorously contain the substance. *Make reference to the different life cycle stages and activities (unit operations) as appropriate (see Appendix 1)*
- Identification of residual emissions to:
  - Workplace
  - Environment (air, onsite water streams)
- Description of the procedural and control technologies in place to minimize emission and resulting exposure? A rough quantification of the releases and information on effectiveness of control techniques may be useful to demonstrate that the technologies ensure rigorous containment and minimization of releases
  - Workplace
  - Environment (air, waste water discharge from site)
- Specify the management means and training that particularly contribute to the functioning of the technical means described above.
- Are these or other procedures communicated to the user of the intermediates?

### 5. Special procedures applied before cleaning and maintenance

- Description of the special procedures (such as purging and washing) applied before the system (any contained operation units within the life cycle of the substance) is opened and entered for cleaning and maintenance work.
- Are these or other procedures communicated to the user of the intermediates?

# 6. Describe activity and type of PPE in case of accidents, incidents, maintenance and cleaning activities

- Briefly list the activities and required type of PPE for the situations mentioned above (no details required).
- Are these or other procedures and suitable PPE communicated to the user of the intermediates?

### 7. Waste information

- Identify the process stages where waste is generated (e.g. purification, maintenance, emission controls). Briefly describe the type of treatment applied onsite.
- Briefly describe the type of treatment applied offsite.
- A rough quantification of waste amounts may be useful to demonstrate that the technologies ensure rigorous containment and minimization of releases.

# **Appendix 4: definition of intermediate**

# **A4.1 Introduction**

Intermediates are a class of substances for which specific provisions have been laid down under REACH for reasons of workability and because of their special nature (recital 41). REACH distinguishes between non-isolated and isolated intermediates. While the REACH Regulation does not apply to non-isolated intermediates (Article 2(1)(c)), isolated intermediates are ruled under REACH but the general requirements are significantly reduced. In particular, isolated intermediates benefit from reduced registration requirements, provided their manufacture and use take place under the conditions set in Article 17 and 18. The use of a substance as on-site isolated intermediate or transported isolated intermediate is also exempted from authorisation (Article 2(8)).

Moreover, for on-site isolated intermediates used under strictly controlled conditions, neither dossier nor substance evaluation apply (Article 49) and the provisions on introducing new and amending current restrictions (Article 68(1)) do not apply.

For the proper implementation of the REACH Regulation, the status of a substance as to whether it is an isolated intermediate or not should be unequivocal.

The European Court of Justice in case C-650/15 P (acrylamide judgment of 25 October 2017 – hereafter referred as the acrylamide case)<sup>20</sup> interprets the definition of 'intermediate' under Article 3(15) of the REACH Regulation. The judgment of the Court is legally binding and it has therefore triggered a revision of parts of this guidance to ensure that the contents are in line with the principles established by the Court.

# A4.2 The definition of intermediate in REACH (Article 3(15))

In accordance with Article 3(15) of the REACH Regulation, an intermediate is "a substance that is manufactured for and consumed in or used for chemical processing in order to be transformed into another substance (hereinafter referred to as synthesis)". The status of a substance as an intermediate is in fact not specific to its chemical nature but to how it is manufactured and intended to be used. This notion is also reflected in the judgment by the European Court of Justice on the acrylamide case<sup>21</sup>.

In paragraph 30 of the judgment, the Court clarified that in REACH , "the word 'intermediate' is used as a noun to identify certain substances which, <u>on account of their use</u>, enjoy a derogation, consisting of a reduction in certain obligations laid down by that regulation". The Court, furthermore confirmed that the intermediates exemption in Article 2(8)(b) "must be understood as being applicable only to uses of a substance that may be classified as an on-site or transported isolated intermediate" (para 61 of the judgment).

The definition of an intermediate is therefore the definition of an intermediate use of a substance. For a given substance, only the quantity of that substance that is consumed in or used for chemical processing in order to be transformed into another substance is regarded as intermediate. Any other quantity of the same substance is not regarded as an intermediate. This definition includes non-isolated intermediates, on-site isolated intermediates and transported isolated intermediates

### > Non isolated Intermediates.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup><u>http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?text=&docid=195945&pageIndex=0&doclang=EN&mode=lst&dir=& occ=first&part=1&cid=793596</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A62015CJ0650</u>

Article 3(15)(a) of REACH defines a non-isolated intermediate as an intermediate that during synthesis is not intentionally removed (except for sampling) from the equipment in which the synthesis takes place. Article 3(15)(a) also clarifies the meaning of "equipment" in the definition. Hence "equipment" includes any chemical process installation which the intermediate is in contact with or passes through, except those used to store the intermediate after its manufacture. Chemical process installations where the intermediate is manufactured and transferred to in order to be transformed into another substance are therefore also covered under the "equipment in which the synthesis takes place", unless used to store the intermediate.

For an intermediate to be regarded as a non-isolated intermediate, it shall not be removed from such equipment, except for sampling. A non-isolated intermediate is thus manufactured and "consumed in" such chemical processing equipment.

Considerations on non-isolated intermediates will not be further discussed in this note since these substances are outside the scope of REACH (Article 2(1)(c)).

### > On site Isolated Intermediates.

Article 3(15)(b) of REACH defines on-site isolated intermediates as intermediates not meeting the criteria of a non-isolated intermediate and where the manufacture of the intermediate and the synthesis of (an)other substance(s) from that intermediate take place on the same site, operated by one or more legal entities. Therefore, these substances are by definition first isolated before being "used for" chemical processing to be transformed into another substance. In the case of on-site isolated intermediates, Article 3(15)(b) specifies that this subsequent step should take place on the same site as the manufacturing of the intermediate.

### > Transported Isolated Intermediates

A transported isolated intermediate is defined in Article 3(15)(c) of REACH as an intermediate not meeting the criteria of a non-isolated intermediate and transported between or supplied to other sites. Clearly, if the substance is transported between sites, it fails the criteria of a non-isolated intermediate, so the essential elements of the definition are that the substance is an intermediate (i.e. is used as an intermediate) and is transported between or supplied to other sites. As for on-site isolated intermediates, transported isolated intermediates are first isolated before being "used for" chemical processing to be transformed into another substance.

### > Reference to site

It is clear from Article 3(15)(b) that on-site isolated intermediates are substances used for chemical processing to be transformed into another substance on one specific "site", i.e. a single location with infrastructure and facilities of one or more manufacturers (Article  $3(16))^{22}$ . Similarly, it is clear from Article 3(15)(c) that transported isolated intermediates are used for chemical processing to be transformed into another substance on one or more "sites". The reference to "site" in Article 3(15) emphasises that an intermediate is used within industrial processes. The definition of "site" in Article 3(16) suggests that it is a location, in which manufacturing of the intermediate or of the other substance takes place. Hence, chemical processes involving the use of isolated intermediates are part of the manufacturing activities (i.e. the production of a substance according to Article 3(8)) where the synthesis or transformation is carried out and should therefore be considered as "manufacturing" under REACH.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Manufacturer is defined in Article 3(9) of REACH as any natural or legal person who manufactures a substance. Manufacturing is defined in Article 3(8) of REACH as production or extraction of substances in the natural state.

## A4.3 Conditions for use of substances as intermediates

In the acrylamide judgment, the Court clarified that the definition of intermediate uses provided in Article 3(15) requires three cumulative conditions to be fulfilled (Para. 33):

1) "the first of those conditions concerns the intended purpose at the time of the manufacture and use of a substance as an intermediate, which consists of transforming the intermediate substance into another";

2) "the second condition concerns the technical means by which that processing takes place, namely a chemical process known as 'synthesis'";

3) "the third condition restricts the scope of the definition of 'intermediate' to uses of a substance which remains confined to a controlled environment, which may be either the equipment within which synthesis takes place, or the site in which the manufacturing and synthesis takes place or to which that substance is transported, 'site' being defined in Article 3(16) of the REACH Regulation as a 'single location' in which infrastructure and facilities are installed".

The reason for treating intermediate uses differently from other uses stems from the fact that the risks related to the manufacture of an intermediate, as well as its subsequent use for manufacturing other substances, are limited. Indeed, this limitation results from the fact that, the "transformation of an intermediate into another substance (intended purpose)" must take place by "technical means" (i.e., specifically designed equipment at specific sites that are set up for the manufacturing of substances) and must be "confined to a controlled environment" (i.e., equipment/site and conditions that are well regulated and controlled). Moreover, as the intended purpose for an intermediate is to be transformed into another substance, when processed the lifespan of the intermediate is finite. The combination of finite lifespan, the technical means and the confinement to a controlled environment results in the limitation of the exposure of humans and the environment to the substance used as an intermediate.

Therefore, in the REACH Regulation, the registration requirements for substances used as intermediates are significantly lighter than for other uses provided that the registrant confirms that the manufacture and use take place under strictly controlled conditions (Article 17 and 18 of REACH). However as general derogations (e.g. exemption from authorisation, restriction) apply also to intermediates registered with full registration (Article 10 of REACH), all intermediates must be used according to the three criteria set by the EU Court of Justice in the acrylamide case in order to be considered an intermediate use and to guarantee a high level of protection of human health and the environment by limitation of exposure.

Examples of circumstances under which substances that may be considered as intermediates can be chemically transformed in industrial activities are provided in next Section 4.

# > The first condition: the intended purpose at the time of manufacture and use

"The first of those conditions concerns the intended purpose at the time of the manufacture and use of a substance as an intermediate, which consists of transforming that substance into another" (paragraph 33 of the Judgment, emphasis added).

It is not sufficient that a substance is transformed into another one to be considered as an intermediate substance. In fact, according to the Court, the substance must have been manufactured with the intention of being transformed into another substance and been actually used for that purpose. The intended purpose of the manufacture and use of the intermediate substance must therefore consist in transforming that substance into another and must be present at the time of the manufacture and use of the substance as an intermediate. In that respect, for the determination of an intermediate use, other purposes in the use of the substance than the transformation into another substance, (e.g. use of the substance as a catalyst, processing agent, surfactant, etc.) are not relevant.

The 1st condition is fulfilled if:

- ➔ it can be demonstrated that the intermediate substance has been manufactured and used with the intention to be transformed into another substance
- ➔ it can be demonstrated that the intermediate substance has been actually transformed into another substance
- → Information can be provided on the identity of the other substance into which the intermediate has been transformed

# > The second condition: the technical means by which the transformation takes place in a chemical process known as 'synthesis'.

"The second condition concerns the technical means by which that processing takes place, namely a chemical process known as synthesis" (paragraph 33 of the Judgment, emphasis added).

With this condition the Court of Justice limits the definition of intermediate uses to a chemical process ("synthesis") that require the implementation of "technical means".

Concerning the "technical means" the judgement provides grounds to clarify their scope and nature.

The scope has to take into account, the underlying purpose of the derogation for intermediate uses, which is to avoid risks for human health and the environment by ensuring that intermediates are only used under controlled conditions<sup>23</sup>. Therefore, in order to ensure the useful effect of the underlying purpose of the law, the substance manufactured for intermediate use must be kept under controlled conditions from its manufacture to its transformation into another substance<sup>24</sup>. It is the disappearance of this substance that justifies the derogation from certain obligations laid down by that regulation<sup>25</sup>. Until its disappearance, the control of the substance must be ensured by "technical means", which therefore must apply throughout the life cycle of the intermediate substance

Moreover, under Article 3(15) of REACH, "synthesis" is the chemical process by which the intermediate is to be transformed into another substance. According to Article 3(8) of REACH, "manufacturing" means the production of a substance. Since "synthesis" is a mean of producing a substance, the definition of intermediate is intrinsically limited by the intended result of manufacturing a substance. This also means that other uses of a substance as, for example, to obtain a mixture or to produce an article or to treat an article (e.g. plating or painting of articles), cannot be seen as an intermediate use even if, during use, the substance is transformed into another one.

Secondly, the nature of the "technical means" can also be specified more concretely based on the definition of intermediates in the REACH Regulation. Indeed, the definition of "non-isolated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Paragraph 55 of the Advocate General's Opinion in the acrylamide case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> The Court specifies that the word 'intermediate' identifies "*certain substances which, <u>on account of their use, enjoy a</u> <i>derogation, consisting of a reduction in certain obligations laid down by that regulation*" (paragraph 30 of the Judgment, emphasis added). In that line, by paraphrasing Article 3(15), the Court points out that the use must be "*for chemical processing in order to be transformed into another substance, known as synthesis*". The scope of the application of the technical means is confirmed by the *underlying purpose* of the derogation of intermediate uses in REACH as described by Advocate General in the acrylamide case:

<sup>&</sup>quot;The ratio legis here is to avoid risks for human health and the environment by ensuring that intermediates are only <u>used</u> under controlled conditions" (paragraph 55, emphasis added)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> It should be noted that the substances used as an intermediate do not need to react 100 %, i.e. physically disappear completely but may remain in the new manufactured substances as an impurity. The registration *dossier of the manufactured substance then needs to take into account the properties of the impurity.* 

intermediate" in Article 3(15)(a) describes the "technical means" in the form of "the equipment in which the synthesis takes place":

"Such equipment includes the reaction vessel, its ancillary equipment, and any equipment through which the substance(s) pass(es) during a continuous flow or batch process as well as the pipework for transfer from one vessel to another for the purpose of the next reaction step, but it excludes tanks or other vessels in which the substance(s) are stored after the manufacture" (Article 3(15)(a)).

This description confirms that a synthesis involves equipment in which successive reactions take place, from the manufacture of the intermediate to its transformation into another substance.

The definition set out in Article 3(15)(a) refers to non-isolated intermediates but the reference to equipment in the life-cycle of isolated intermediates is also foreseen in other parts of REACH<sup>26</sup>.

Intermediate uses-- whether isolated or non-isolated--must necessarily be subject to "technical means". This is to ensure they are in line with the underlying purpose of the law (i.e. "intermediates are only used under controlled conditions"). This must apply regardless of whether the intermediate is isolated from the equipment to be used on site, or to be transported to another site.

The 2nd condition is fulfilled if:

- ➔ it can be demonstrated that the transformation of the intermediate substance into another substance (link to condition 1) takes place in the context of a chemical process and a specific equipment is used for this process;
- ➔ that chemical process is a `synthesis' process;
- → it can be demonstrated that, to avoid risks for human health and the environment, the intermediate substance remains contained after its manufacturing throughout the whole chemical process. The containment of the intermediate substance must be ensured by technical means at the site (for an on-site isolated intermediate) or during the transport/storage at the site where it is later used (for a transported isolated intermediate).

### > The third condition: confinement to a controlled environment

"The third condition restricts the scope of the definition of 'intermediate' to uses of a substance which remains confined to a controlled environment, which may be either the equipment within which synthesis takes place, or the site in which the manufacturing and synthesis takes place or to which that substance is transported, 'site' being defined in Article 3(16) of the REACH Regulation as a 'single location' in which infrastructure and facilities are installed" (paragraph 33 of the Judgment, emphasis added).

Based on that condition, an intermediate use of a substance can only be a use that is confined to a controlled environment. It is noted that the confinement of the substance to a controlled environment is not explicitly referred to in the definition set out in Article 3(15) of REACH. However, the judgment of the Court expressly confirms that the confinement condition is inherent to the definition of intermediate use, although it did not specify more precisely the circumstances under which a substance is "confined to a controlled environment". Thus, in determining what is meant by "controlled environment", the underlying purpose of the law for the intermediates exemption which "is to avoid risks for human health and the environment by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Reference to equipment is made in Article 18(4)(a) of REACH: "The substance is rigorously contained by technical means during its whole lifecycle including manufacture, purification, cleaning and maintenance of **equipment**, sampling, analysis, loading and unloading of **equipment** or vessels, waste disposal or purification and storage. (emphasis added).

ensuring that intermediates are only used under controlled conditions" (paragraph 55 of the Advocate General's Opinion in case C-650/15 P,) must be taken into consideration. The "technical means" that the Court imposed in its second condition provide for a controlled environment. The connection between the second and third condition is also confirmed by the limitation made by the Court for the confinement of the substance to the "equipment" within which the synthesis takes place, or the "site" in which the manufacturing and synthesis takes place. The "site' being defined in Article 3(16) of the REACH Regulation as a 'single location' in which infrastructure and facilities are installed" (paragraph 33 of the Judgment,). The infrastructure and facilities are a more generic reference, which includes "the equipment in which the synthesis takes place" but it is not limited to that. Thus, the controlled environment" is the confinement to infrastructure and facilities for the manufacture and use of the intermediate.

The 3rd condition is fulfilled if:

- → it can be demonstrated that the equipment or site where the chemical processing takes place is a controlled environment ensuring the confinement of the intermediate substance through technical means avoiding risks for human health and the environment (link to condition 2) where transformation to another substance takes place (link to condition 1);
- → it can be demonstrated that in case the intermediate substance is removed from the equipment during the chemical process, the intermediate substance remains confined to a controlled environment through technical means avoiding risks for human health and the environment (link to condition 2).

## A4.4 Definition of intermediate use – examples

The following sections contain a number of practical examples of intermediate uses and nonintermediate uses. These examples have been developed considering the three conditions set out by the European Court of Justice for intermediate uses in the Judgment C-650/15 P of 2017. A summary of these conditions, discussed in the previous sections, is set out below in the form of questions. It is important to note that all three conditions have to be fulfilled before a substance can be considered to be used as an intermediate. Therefore if any of the three condition is not fulfilled the use is not an intermediate use. In such a case, the fulfilment of the other conditions is not relevant.

### Conditions to be fulfilled for intermediate uses

Condition 1: manufacture and use with the intention to transform the intermediate into another substance

- ➔ Is the transformation into another substance the intended purpose at the time of manufacturing and use of the substance?
- → Has the substance been actually transformed into another substance?
- → Is the identity of the other substance known?

Condition 2: containment by technical means in a chemical process known as synthesis

- ➔ Does the transformation of the substance into another substance take place in the context of a chemical process?
- → Is that chemical process a synthesis?
- ➔ Does the specific equipment in which the synthesis takes place correspond to the equipment described in REACH Article 3(15)(a)<sup>27</sup>?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> REACH Article 3(15)(a) "Such equipment includes the reaction vessel, its ancillary equipment, and any equipment through which the substance(s) pass(es) during a continuous flow or batch process as well as the pipework for transfer from one vessel to another for the purpose of the next reaction step, but it excludes tanks or other vessels in

- → On site isolated intermediates: does the equipment at the site of manufacturing ensure that the substance is contained from the time of its manufacturing until it is transformed into another substance?
- ➔ Transported isolated intermediates: does the equipment ensure that the substance is contained at the site of manufacturing, during its transport and at the site where it is transformed into another substance?

Condition 3: confinement to a controlled environment

- → Is the substance kept confined to the equipment during the chemical processing when it is transformed into another substance?
- → Is the substance kept confined to the site where the chemical processing takes place?
- → Does the substance remain confined to a controlled environment (to avoid exposure to humans and the environment) if it is removed from the equipment during the chemical processing?

The examples in the following sections concern uses of a substance in two relevant industrial processes: manufacturing of a substance and production of an article.

The examples cover both intermediate uses and non-intermediate uses of substances.

# A4.4.1 Use of a substance in the manufacturing process of another substance.

Substance A may be used in the manufacturing of a substance B in order to be transformed into that substance B. The transformation from substance A to substance B normally takes place in the context of a chemical process and involves the chemical reaction of A. However, in a limited number of cases, such as individual refining processes, substance A does not necessarily react in order to be transformed into substance B.

While there may be various intended uses for substance A at the time of its manufacture, an intermediate use is exclusively that of a precursor in the manufacturing of another substance. Any quantity of substance A which is not used as precursor in the manufacturing of other substances is not used as an intermediate.

After being manufactured, substance A can be transformed into substance B within the same chemical process, or it can be isolated from that process and be transformed within another process. The other process can take place at the same site or in another site. In all cases, the use of substance A is an intermediate use if these three cumulative conditions are fulfilled:

- substance A is manufactured and used with the intention of being transformed into substance B;
- technical means are applied throughout the chemical process where the transformation takes place; and
- the chemical process remains confined to a controlled environment.

The use of a substance is not an intermediate use when the substance is used in the manufacturing process of another substance but is not itself transformed into that other substance. (e.g., a substance used as a solvent).

Examples 1 – 4 below concern intermediate/non-intermediate uses of a substance in the manufacturing process of another substance.

### **Example 1: Substances used as reactants – intermediate use**

### Case description (use of reactant)

which the substance(s) are stored after the manufacture". Although Article 3(15)(a) refers to non-isolated intermediates, the description of equipment in which the synthesis takes place applies to all intermediate uses.

Triphenylmethanol is manufactured by Company X in accordance with a Grignard reaction using magnesium, bromobenzene and benzophenone as reactants. In this process magnesium is first reacted with bromobenzene to obtain phenylmagnesium bromide.



The (Grignard reactant) formed by this initial reaction is not isolated from the reactor but is further reacted with benzophenone. The result of this second reaction is Triphenylmethanol.



Magnesium, bromobenzene and benzophenone are manufactured by company Y in its chemical factory. These substances are produced and stored in controlled conditions to avoid exposure to workers and the environment. These substances are delivered to the factory of Company X by truck trailer. They are transported and stored in vessels pressurized with inert gas (N2) to avoid releases to the atmosphere. Loading and unloading operations are automatically controlled from a control room. Manual intervention is only required for the connection of the trailer to the loading system. The chemical transformation takes place in a batch reactor. Loading and unloading of the reactor is performed automatically. After synthesis, triphenylmethanol is transferred to a dedicated vessel and further purified. Storage tanks, reaction equipment and delivery system are located in an industrial site.

### **Regulatory analysis**

Three groups of substances can be identified in this example:

- 1) the reactants of the first reaction (i.e., magnesium and bromobenzene);
- 2) the reaction product of the first reaction which is itself a reactant of the second reaction (i.e., phenylmagnesium bromide);
- 3) the other reactant of the second reaction (i.e., benzophenone).

### Condition 1 (manufacture and use with the intention to transform)

Magnesium and bromobenzene

- → Is the transformation into another substance the intended purpose at the time of manufacturing of the substance?
   Yes, bromobenzene and magnesium are manufactured to be transformed into
  - Yes, bromobenzene and magnesium are manufactured to be transformed into phenylmagnesium bromide and eventually triphenylmethanol.
- → Has the substance been actually transformed into another substance? Yes, bromobenzene and magnesium are transformed into phenylmagnesium bromide and eventually tryphenilmethanol.
- → Is the identity of the other substance known?
   Yes, the substance is phenylmagnesium bromide. The identity is clear.

### Phenylmagnesium bromide

- ➔ Is the transformation into another substance the intended purpose at the time of manufacturing of the substance? Yes, phenylmagnesium bromide is manufactured to be transformed into triphenylmethanol.
- → Has the substance been actually transformed into another substance?
   Yes, phenylmagnesium bromide is actually transformed into tryphenilmethanol.
- ➔ Is the identity of the other substance known? Yes, the substance is tryphenilmethanol. The identity is clear.

### **Benzophenone**

- ➔ Is the transformation into another substance the intended purpose at the time of manufacturing of the substance?
- Yes, benzophenone is manufactured to be transformed into triphenylmethanol.
- → Has the substance been actually transformed into another substance? Yes, benzophenone has actually been transformed into tryphenilmethanol.
- ➔ Is the identity of the other substance known?
- Yes, the substance is tryphenilmethanol. The identity is clear.

All the substances involved in the first and second reactions of the synthesis of tryphenilmethanol were manufactured with the intention of being transformed into another substance.

However, among these substances, phenylmagnesium bromide is not isolated, as long as its manufacture and transformation occur within the conditions described in Article 3(15)(a) of REACH. REACH does not apply to the use of this substance as a non-isolated intermediate. Therefore, it is not necessary to assess whether its uses are contained by technical means (second condition) and whether it is confined to a controlled environment (third condition).

# *Condition 2 (containment by technical means in a chemical process known as synthesis)*

Magnesium, bromobenzene and benzophenone.

environment.

➔ Does the transformation of the substance into another substance take place in the context of a chemical process?

Yes, magnesium and bromobenzene are used in the first reaction and benzophenone is used in the second reaction.

- ➔ Is that chemical process a synthesis? Yes. These chemical reactions constitute all together the synthesis of triphenylmethanol.
- → As the reactants are transported, does the equipment ensure that the substance is contained, whether at the site of manufacturing, during its transport and at the site where it transformed into another substance?
   Yes, a dedicated equipment is used to contain the reactants during the manufacture, loading, transport, unloading and their use in the synthesis of triphenylmethanol. Technical means are used to contain the intermediate in all phases, from manufacturing to end use in order to minimize risks for human health and the

### Condition 3 (confinement to a controlled environment)

Magnesium, bromobenzene and benzophenone.

- → Is the substance kept confined to the equipment during the chemical processing when it is transformed into another substance?
   Yes, magnesium, bromobenzene and benzophenone are kept confined to the equipment throughout the synthesis of triphenylmethanol.
- ➔ Is the substance kept confined to the site where the chemical processing takes place? Yes, magnesium, bromobenzene and benzophenone are kept confined within an industrial site.
- ➔ Does the substance remain confined to a controlled environment (to avoid exposure to humans and the environment) if it is removed from the equipment during the chemical processing?

N/A, the intermediate is not removed from the equipment during the chemical processing.

### Conclusion

Phenylmagnesium bromide is a non-isolated intermediate used for the manufacturing of triphenylmethanol. Both magnesium and bromobenzene are transported isolated intermediates used for the manufacturing of phenylmagnesium bromide. Finally, benzophenone is a transported isolated intermediate used for the manufacturing of triphenylmethanol. In this specific process, all the transported isolated intermediates fulfil the three conditions set out by the Court of Justice. However, if magnesium or bromobenzene have other uses besides intermediate use, the exemption foreseen for intermediate uses do not apply to these uses.

### Example 2: Substances used as catalysts - non intermediate use

Catalysts are substances used in chemical processes to change the rate of chemical reactions.. In the synthesis process of new substances, catalysts may be dispersed in the same phase (typically liquid or gas) as the reactants (homogeneous catalysis) – or in different phases (heterogeneous catalysis). At the end of the chemical process, a catalyst may be separated from the new substance (and possibly recovered, regenerated and reused) or it may end up as an impurity in the new substance. In all cases a substance used as a catalyst in the synthesis of another substance is not itself transformed into the other substance.

### Case description (use of a substance as catalyst)

p-toluenesulfonic acid is used by company Z as acid catalyst in the manufacturing of esters from carboxylic acids and alcohols. The reaction follows this generic scheme:



Although this looks like a simple reaction (replacement of OH by OR), some steps are required to obtain the final substance. During the synthesis, the catalyst participates in the reaction However, the catalyst is recovered and regenerated at the end of the reaction and it is not itself transformed into the new substance obtained from the synthesis (i.e., the ester).

Reactants and catalysts are produced by other companies and transported to company Z in sealed containers that are stored in a dedicated storage area. The synthesis of esters takes place in a dedicated equipment. The main steps of the process are (i) loading of reactants (i.e.

carboxylic acid and alcohol) and the catalyst (i.e. p-toluenesulfonic acid), (ii) synthesis, (iii) downloading of synthesized products (i.e., esters) and spent catalyst, (iv) purification and storage of reaction products, (v) purification of catalyst, (vi) recovery of the catalyst.

### Regulatory analysis (use of the catalyst)

### Condition 1 (manufacture and use with the intention to transform)

p-toluensulfonic acid.

- ➔ Is the transformation into another substance the intended purpose at the time of manufacturing of the substance?
  - No, p-toluenesulfonic acid is not manufactured with the purpose to be transformed into another substance (i.e., the esters), but to accelerate the transformation of carboxylic acids into esters.
- → Has the substance been actually transformed into another substance? No, p-toluenesulfonic acid is not transformed into another substance. The catalyst is recovered at the end of the process.
- → Is the identity of the other substance known?
   N/A, the other substance is not formed from p-toluensulfonic acid.

### Conclusion

The use of p-toluenesulfonic acid used as a catalyst in the synthesis of esters from organic acids and alcohols is not an intermediate use as this substance is not transformed into another substance. Therefore, the first of the three conditions for intermediates is not fulfilled. In this specific case, analysis of other conditions is not needed.

In general, the use of a substance as catalyst in the synthesis of another substance is not an intermediate use according to REACH because the catalyst is not used to be itself transformed into the synthesized substance regardless of whether it is recovered at the end of the process or not.

# **Example 3: Substances used as processing agent – non intermediate use**

Processing agents may be added at any stage of the manufacturing process of a substance including the synthesis step in order to optimise the physico-chemical environment of the reaction medium.

Examples include dispersing agents, viscosity modifiers, lubricants, antistatic agents, etc. Processing agents may (or may not) react on use and may (or may not) be recoverable after the synthesis. Residues of processing agents used during the synthesis of a substance can be present, as impurities, in the manufactured substance.

### Case description (use of a substance as processing agent)

Company YZ uses substance A and substance B to manufacture substance C. Substance D (processing agent) is used during the chemical synthesis to reduce the viscosity of the reaction media and thus facilitate further purification of substance C.

After the synthesis the reaction products are purified to separate substance C from production residues. The residues that contain substance D are collected and disposed of as waste.

Reactants and processing agents are manufactured by other companies, delivered to the factory in sealed drums which are connected to a dedicated loading station and used in a dedicated equipment.

## Regulatory analysis (use of substance as a processing agent)

### *Condition 1 (manufacture and use with the intention to transform)*

Substance D

- → Is the transformation into another substance the intended purpose at the time of manufacturing of substance D?
   No, substance D (processing agent) is not manufactured with the purpose to be transformed into another substance, but to reduce the viscosity of the reaction medium during the synthesis of another substance.
- → Has the substance been actually transformed into another substance?
   No, substance D is not itself transformed into another substance. Substance X is collected as reaction residue at the end of the process and disposed as a waste.
- → Is the identity of the other substance known? N/A the other substance is not formed from substance D.

### Conclusion

A processing agent is manufactured to be used, and it is actually used, in a synthesis process with the purpose to optimize the physico-chemical environment of the reaction medium. The agent is not itself transformed into another substance, therefore the first of the three conditions for intermediates is not fulfilled. Processing agents are not manufactured and used in order to be themselves transformed into another substance and the manufactured substance is not formed from the processing agent. Therefore, their use is not an intermediate use.

## **Example 4: Use of substances in mixtures - intermediate use**

Substances can be mixed with other substances before their intermediate use. The mixing step may take place directly in the equipment (e.g., chemical reactor) where the synthesis takes place, or may be part of a process step preceding the synthesis (i.e. a mixture is prepared in a dedicated equipment). In this latter case the amount of such mixture used in the synthesis of another substance is considered to be part of the intermediate use while the amount of the mixture used for other purposes is not part of the intermediate use.

### Case description (use of a substance in mixture)

Company XYZ manufactures sodium hydroxide in a chemical plant where the substance is kept contained during manufacturing and storage. Sodium hydroxide is sold to company Y and transported to another site where it is used as reactant to manufacture sodium acetate.

Company Y dilutes sodium hydroxide into water before using it to manufacture sodium acetate. The dilution step of sodium hydroxide with water takes place in a dedicated vessel. The diluted substance is loaded to the reaction vessel where the synthesis of sodium acetate takes place. Sodium acetate is further transferred to a storage tank. Reaction vessels are fully enclosed and pressurized with inert gas. Storage vessels are equipped with nitrogen blanket to avoid releases into the environment. Loading, unloading and transfer of all substances take place in enclosed pipelines via sealed transfer pumps.

All operations are performed automatically. Reaction and transfer parameters are controlled from a remote control room. Manual intervention is limited to maintenance and periodical cleaning of equipment.

### Condition 1 (manufacture and use with the intention to transform)

Sodium hydroxide

- → Has the substance been manufactured with the intention to be transformed into another substance?
  - Yes, sodium hydroxide is manufactured to be transformed into sodium acetate.
- → Has the substance been actually transformed into another substance? Yes, Sodium hydroxide is transformed into sodium acetate
- → Is the identity of the other substance known?

Yes, the other substance is sodium acetate. The identity is clear.

# *Condition 2 (containment by technical means in a chemical process known as synthesis)*

Sodium hydroxide is manufacture at one site and it is transported to another site where it is used in the synthesis of sodium acetate (transported isolated intermediate)

- → Does the transformation of the substance into another substance take place in the context of a chemical process (synthesis) and does the specific equipment in which the synthesis takes place correspond to the equipment described in Article 3(15)a? ? Yes, a reaction vessel and dedicated loading and unloading pipelines are used in the synthesis of sodium acetate from sodium hydroxide.
- → Does the equipment ensure that the substance is contained, whether at the site of manufacturing, during its transport and at the site where it transformed into another substance?
  Yes sodium bydrovide is kept contained in all phases of its lifecycle; at the site of

Yes, sodium hydroxide is kept contained in all phases of its lifecycle: at the site of manufacturing, during transport and at the site where it is used to be transformed into sodium acetate. A dedicated equipment is used in the synthesis of sodium acetate. Technical means are used to contain the intermediate in all phases of the process: loading, transport, dilution and synthesis in order to minimize risks for human health and the environment.

### Condition 3 (confinement to a controlled environment)

Sodium hydroxide

- → Is the substance kept confined to the equipment during the chemical processing when it is transformed into another substance?
   Yes, sodium hydroxide remains contained into the equipment during the synthesis of sodium acetate.
- → Is the substance kept confined to the site where the chemical processing takes place? Yes, the chemical process takes place in a dedicated equipment in an industrial site.
- → Does the substance remain confined to a controlled environment (to avoid exposure to humans and the environment) if it is removed from the equipment during the chemical processing?

Yes, the substance is not removed from the equipment during the chemical processing.

### Conclusion

The use of sodium hydroxide in the manufacturing of sodium acetate is an intermediate use. The production process of sodium acetate entails several steps including dilution with water. The dilution step is functional to the synthesis of sodium acetate from sodium hydroxide.

## A4.4.2 Use of substances in production and/or treatment of articles

A substance can be used by the manufacturer itself or by a downstream user in the production or treatment of articles. An article is defined in Article 3(3) of REACH as an "*object which during production is given a special shape, surface or design which determines its function to a greater degree than does its chemical composition*". Articles are subject to specific provisions under REACH if they contain substances of very high concern (SVHC) or substances subject to restriction.

According to Article 3(15) of REACH, the intention of using a substance as intermediate, must be to transform it into another substance That transformation must take place in the context of a chemical process requiring technical means (synthesis) leading to the manufacturing of a substance on its own. Any other use which does not satisfy these requirements, (e.g. use of a substance to produce an article) cannot be an intermediate use regardless of whether the substance is chemically transformed or not (see section A4.3 for additional considerations).

# **Example 5: substance used in the production of electrodes in batteries** – non-intermediate use

In battery technologies, substances are used to manufacture the "active material" of the cathode (the positive electrode) and anode (the negative electrode). The active material is embedded in a mechanical substrate to produce an electrode (an article). These electrodes are then further assembled with the other battery components (including electronics) to obtain a finished battery (a complex article).

### Case description (use of a substance in production of articles)

Company A manufactures substance X which is sold to Company B (battery manufacturer) and transported to their site to be used in the production of batteries.

At the site of company B a thermal treatment of substance X takes place at such temperature that the decomposition of the substance does not occur. The treatment involves heating substance X, maintaining a suitable temperature for an appropriate amount of time and then cooling. By doing so there are changes in the physical/mechanical properties (specifically ductility and hardness).

After the process is completed, substance X is moulded into the desired shape to produce electrodes that are further used in the production of batteries.

### Regulatory analysis

### Condition 1 (manufacture and use with the intention to transform)

Substance X

- → Is the transformation into another substance the intended purpose at the time of manufacturing of the substance?
   No, substance X is not manufactured with the purpose to be transformed into another substance.
- → Has the substance been actually transformed into another substance? No, during the process of making the electrode, substance X remains as substance X although its structure has been physically altered.
- → Is the identity of the other substance known? N/A. There is no other substance.

### Conclusion

The use of substance X in the production of electrodes for batteries is not an intermediate use because the substance is not manufactured and used with the purpose of being transformed into another substance and it is not transformed into another substance during the use. Therefore, the first of the three conditions for intermediate uses is not fulfilled. The thermal treatment of substance X results in a structural change of the substance which leads to altered mechanical properties (ductility and hardness) allowing it to be moulded into a particular shape (for the electrode).

Note that when a substance becomes an article or part of an article as a consequence of a specific treatment, requirements for substances in articles under REACH may apply. ECHA's guidance for substances in articles<sup>28</sup> provides clarification on what these requirements are and how to fulfil them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> <u>https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/23036412/articles\_en.pdf/cc2e3f93-8391-4944-88e4-efed5fb5112c</u>

EUROPEAN CHEMICALS AGENCY P.O. BOX 400, FI-00121 HELSINKI, FINLAND ECHA.EUROPA.EU